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VALUES
Integrity
We will act with honesty, without
compromising the truth and be
personally accountable for the
highest standards of behaviour.

MISSION
To develop, market and
operate port, logistics and
industrial estate infrastructure
for optimal economic growth.

Innovation
We will convert knowledge and
ideas to new approaches that will
revolutionise the way we work.
Equity
We are committed to acting with
equity when dealing with our
employees and other stakeholders,
so that we continue to maintain the
trust and confidence of those with
whom we do business.
Service Excellence
We will provide our customers with
service and professionalism that far
surpasses their expectations.
Health, Safety and Environment
We are committed to ensuring that
the working environment is safe and
that all individuals take responsibility
for achieving this.

VISION
To be a Global Leader in port and
estate management by consistently
providing superior, innovative service.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fiftieth (50th) Annual Meeting of
Shareholders of Point Lisas Industrial Port Development Corporation
Limited (“the Corporation”) will be held on Thursday June 8th, 2017
commencing at 2:00 p.m. at PLIPDECO’s Conference Centre, PLIPDECO
House, Orinoco Drive, Point Lisas Industrial Estate, Couva, Trinidad for
the following purposes:

Notes
1.

No service contracts were entered into between the Company
and any of its Directors.

2.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the
above meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote
in his or her stead. Such Proxy need not also be a member of the
Company.

3.

Attached is a Proxy Form which must be completed, signed and
then deposited with the Secretary of the Company not less than
48 hours before the time fixed for holding the meeting.

ORDINARY BUSINESS:
1.

To receive and consider the Report of the Directors and the
Group’s Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended
December 31st, 2016, together with the Report of the Auditors
thereon and to note the final dividend.

2.

To elect Directors.

3.

To appoint Auditors of the Company and authorise the Directors to
fix their remuneration and expenses for the ensuing year.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Michael A. Phillip
Corporate Secretary
April 7th, 2017
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The
companies of the Industrial Estate help promote
Trinidad and Tobago as a shining example of a
truly integrated petrochemical complex, operated
with mostly local expertise.

PLIPDECO’s History
Point Lisas Industrial Port Development Corporation Limited (PLIPDECO)
has weathered many storms and its record proves this. The Corporation’s
history is a rich one, born out of a vision of a group of businessmen.
Even though talks of establishing a deepwater Port began in 1930, it
was not until the 1950’s, with the vision of the now 95-year-old Robert
Montano, did it gather momentum. In 1956, Montano along with several
other businessmen formed The South Trinidad Chamber of Industry and
Commerce (now The Energy Chamber).
Two key projects for the Chamber were identified; one being the
construction of a deepwater harbour and the other, the establishment
of an industrial estate.
Point Lisas was identified as an ideal location due to the nature of
the coastline and the availability of large tracts of flat, undeveloped
lands in close proximity to the coast. A long series of negotiations
took place between the South Chamber (led by Robert Montano, Max
Marshall, Sidney Knox and Krishna Narinesingh), Caroni Limited and the
Government of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago (GORTT).
On September 16th, 1966, PLIPDECO was incorporated since the Chamber
needed an engine to move the project forward. Its shareholders were:
the GORTT, Caroni Limited, representatives of the South Chamber and
the general public.
The Board embarked on several initiatives for the proposed development.
Being a private enterprise, PLIPDECO was challenged to acquire the
required capital outlay. Despite aggressive marketing and a series of
negotiations with potential investors, there were no firm commitments.
In the early 1970s, the Chamber accepted the Government’s offer to
become a major shareholder and consequently PLIPDECO became a
state enterprise. As majority shareholder, the Government had a clear
vision of what they wanted to do with Point Lisas. Its ultimate objective
was to create a model for industrialisation in the developing world,
through the monetisation of Trinidad’s large natural gas reserves.
Government’s investment in infrastructure for the industrial estate and
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associated Port facilities began to take off by 1976. A national conference
on the best use of energy resources in early 1975 identified the target
industries which would use natural gas. The administration at the time
was persuaded that Point Lisas was the best location. The final link was
made between the new vision of gas-fuelled industries and the industrial
estate which PLIPDECO had been trying to create at Point Lisas for 10
years.
Construction began on the first major industrial plant, the Iron and Steel
Company of Trinidad and Tobago (ISCOTT) in October 1977. Through
successive owners, the Company was subsequently renamed Caribbean
ISPAT and now, ArcelorMittal.
The Prime Minister at that time, Dr. Eric Williams declared at ISPAT’s sodturning ceremony, “our presence today at Point Lisas testifies to the
fundamental change that has taken place in the world economy and in
the economic balance of power… here at Point Lisas sugar cane gives
way to wire rods.”
ArcelorMittal became the largest steelmaker in the Caribbean and the
largest non-oil industrial plant in Trinidad and Tobago.
In 1975, the Government formed a task force (later to become the
National Energy Corporation of Trinidad and Tobago in 1979), with the
mandate to undertake the planning and design that would make the
estate a reality with the necessary support infrastructure to facilitate the
new heavy industries.
The landlord of the estate was PLIPDECO, a company which worked
closely with the task force and concentrated on electricity, water
plants, roads, drainage, Port development and other related estate
infrastructure. By late 1978, construction continued on the steel mill
and began on the Fertrin ammonia plant; Tringen was in production and
the methanol plant was in an advanced planning stage and the power
station was already generating electricity.
In 1979, the major infrastructural work was well advanced and PLIPDECO’s
POINT LISAS INDUSTRIAL PORT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT
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PLIPDECO’s History (continued)
first Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Ken Snaggs was appointed, with the
first major task being the creation of the new Port. Harbour dredging
was completed in the same year creating an approach channel of
1,830 m long, 107 m wide and 11 m deep to facilitate the vessels
expected to use the Port.
During phase two, the approach channel to the harbour was widened
and its depth increased. Additionally, the ISCOTT dock, Savonetta Pier 1
and other Port facilities were also commissioned. On the estate, 10 km
of roadway, 6 km of water pipeline and 4 km of drains were completed.
The works included upgrading to Goodridge Bay Road and building the
north-south road parallel to the Southern Main Road, together with the
various access roads. A 600 mm water pipeline was installed as well as
drainage systems.
The National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago (NGC) installed a 610
mm natural gas pipeline to feed the estate, and six years later, a second,
760 mm line from the Cassia field to Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited
(PPGPL) was completed.
By this time, PLIPDECO had established itself as a competent project
manager at a time when the oil boom was at its height and expertise
was in desperately short supply. PLIPDECO managed the nearby Couva
Housing Project of 1,000 units for the Government, as well as upgraded
the Penal market, building offices for the Caroni County Council in
Chaguanas, an office building for the methanol company and factory
shells for the Industrial Development Corporation.
The National Energy Corporation of Trinidad and Tobago (National
Energy) subsequently took over the project development work of the
task force and assisted in bringing on stream the methanol and urea
plants during the 1980s.
Attention then turned to increasing Port capacity and flexibility as a
result of waning revenues and reduced utilisation of the Port. Until then,
general cargo had been handled mainly for estate construction. It was
felt that handling cargo for commercial use would be a viable alternative
for diversifying the Port; hence the decision was taken to transform
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it into a fully multipurpose Port. The Port was then reconfigured and
expanded to handle general and containerised cargo making it a
significant and viable alternative to Port of Spain.
Today, PLIPDECO’s Port has 55% market share of the country’s domestic
containerised cargo representing a 50% increase in market share over
the last decade. It also handles 90% of the country’s break bulk cargo.
The Port now has a capacity of 240,000 TEUs per annum and for the first
time in its history, attained over 200,000 TEUs per annum for both 2014
and 2015. Installed infrastructure at the Port includes six Berths with
the largest, Berth 5, being able to handle vessels up to 200 m long and
drafts of 11.5 m. There are over 50 pieces of handling equipment used
to move cargo efficiently and safely. Due to productivity and flexibility
of service, the Port of Point Lisas has become the go-to port in Trinidad
and a major regional player.

The 860 ha industrial estate is home to the largest methanol plant in
the world and in fact, the combined production of the two methanol
companies makes the country the largest producer globally with
installed capacity of 6.5 million metric tonnes per annum.
Additionally, the combined production for the ammonia plants on the
estate also makes Trinidad and Tobago the largest exporter in the world
with installed capacity of 5.8 million metric tonnes per annum.
The 103 companies of the Industrial Estate help to promote Trinidad
and Tobago as a shining example of a truly integrated petrochemical
complex, operated with mostly local expertise.
This integration includes:
•
A power plant operated by POWERGEN Limited with an installed
capacity of 852 MW, providing an uninterrupted power supply to
the companies on the estate.
•
One steel plant, Nu-Iron, producing direct reduced iron for export.
•
Urea production by PCS Nitrogen and the Methanol Holdingsowned AUM plants that combine to produce Ammonia, Urea and
Melamine.
•
Ammonia Production by Yara, PCS Nitrogen, Point Lisas Nitrogen,
Caribbean Nitrogen and Nitrogen 2000.
•
Methanol Production by Methanol Holdings Limited and Methanex
Corporation.
•
NGC being responsible for the gas distribution from the land and
marine-based gas fields.
•
National Energy being responsible for operating the docking
facilities (Savonetta Piers 1 to 4) for the bulk tankers.
•
PPGPL that processes natural gas from NGC and delivers to
downstream facilities as feedstock and fractionating of non-gas
liquids into propane, butane and natural gasoline for export.
NGC, National Energy and PPGPL are three examples of fully or partially
Government-owned facilities that play an integral part in the vibrant
gas-based sector that contributes TT$35 billion to the country’s GDP.

POINT LISAS INDUSTRIAL PORT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2016

MR. IAN R. H. ATHERLY

VISION
To be a Global Leader in port and estate
management by consistently providing
superior, innovative service.
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INTRODUCTION
I am pleased to report on the performance of the Point Lisas Industrial
Port Development Corporation Limited (PLIPDECO) for the financial year
2016.
The Corporation recorded a reduction in Profit Before Tax (excluding Fair
Value Gains) of 17%. The drop in performance is consistent with a substantial
reduction of containerised cargo throughput of 24%. The reductions
were seen for imports, exports and transhipment due in large part to the
contraction of the local economy and the resultant impact on trade.
According to the Central Bank statistics, the country recorded a negative
2.6% contraction in the GDP growth rate as the country experienced a full
year of the recession announced in 2015. This is lower than the Caribbean
region average of 0.5% GDP growth.
The Industrial Estate continues to be stable revenue-wise, despite the
closure of ArcelorMittal in early 2016 and the challenges faced by the major
tenants with respect to gas supplies.
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The Corporation’s Group Profit Before Tax, excluding the impact of
Fair Value Gains, decreased by 17% from $15.9m in 2015 to $13.2m in
2016. Group Profits Before Tax with the inclusion of Fair Value Gains was
$274.9m representing a 215% increase over 2015 when the Profit Before Tax
was $87.2m. This substantial rise was due mainly to the increase in the value
of the land following the review by the independent valuators.
Earnings Per Share (EPS) excluding the effect of Fair Value Gains was 7 cents.
Compared with 31 cents in 2015, this represents a 77% decrease. The EPS
was negatively impacted by the change in the rate of tax from 25% to 30%.
With the inclusion of Fair Value Gains, the EPS is $6.67, a significant increase
over the 2015 figure of $2.11. Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation
and Amortisation (EBITDA) and excluding Fair Value Gains was $52.6m, a
decrease over 2015 when it was $55.6m.
Group Revenue contracted by 7% for the year ended December 31st, 2016

when compared with the prior year ended December 31st, 2015. The
reduction is largely due to the drop in containerised cargo and general cargo
throughput of 24% and 3% respectively. With respect to the containerised
cargo there were downward movements in all categories; imports (-14%),
exports (-14%) and transhipment (-57%).
The Group’s total assets grew to $2.8b as of December 31st, 2016, an
increase of $400m over the corresponding period December 31st, 2015
when the total value was $2.4b.
MARITIME AND SHIPPING
Arguably for many, 2016 could be considered an unforgettable year. The
continued challenges of overcapacity in the various shipping routes exerted
downward pressure on shipping rates thus substantially impacting shipping
lines’ profitability. This, coupled with lower trade demand, contributed to
further strain on shipping lines’ viability. The most high profile casualty was
the bankruptcy of South Korean, Hanjin Shipping Line. Other lines are facing
similar type challenges and some have managed to stave off the impending
refinancing, mergers, outright sale and slot sharing arrangements with
competitors.
Recent events consistent with the preceding, include the purchase of NOL
by CMA CGM. CMA CGM is also now at the forefront for the purchase
of financially strapped OOCL. A merger has now also been announced
between Hapag-Lloyd and UASC. This deal was initially announced last
year and should be completed prior to the end of the second quarter
with Hapag-Lloyd controlling a 72% stake. The Maersk/MSC 2M Alliance
has also established a slot charter arrangement with Hyundai Merchant
Marine. Closer to home, the acquisition of SeaFreight Agencies by Crowley
Maritime is one further example of liner consolidation. Both SeaFreight and
Crowley utilise Port of Point Lisas as a strategic location for their Caribbean
operations. The strengthening of the capacity and reach of Crowley in this
way augurs well for PLIPDECO from a business growth perspective.
The Caribbean trade and by extension, the movement of cargo through
Trinidad and Tobago, has been combatting the challenges faced by shipping
lines and NVOCCs has indeed been doing a lot more slot chartering, thereby
POINT LISAS INDUSTRIAL PORT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT
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Chairman’s Report (continued)
allowing the cancellation or adjustment of certain services. All this in an
attempt to streamline operations and reduce costs. The aforementioned
approach has not been without risk as quality of service has in some cases
been compromised, thus opening the door for more competition and
ultimately determining how and where cargo is shipped.
The Panama Canal Expansion commenced commercial operation on June
26th, 2016. The first vessel to cross the Canal using the newly constructed
third set of locks was a New Panamax vessel owned by Cosco Shipping.
While the recently completed expansion will have a significant impact on
global shipping and trade, the pressure on regional ports to adjust their
infrastructure has been significantly tempered. This has been due to the
fact that shipping lines have not yet made any major adjustments to their
routes or fleets and also because the regional trade growth continues to
struggle.
It is quite apparent that many important projects for new port developments
have either been shelved, temporarily delayed or scaled down as dictated
by revised feasibility and financial projections, reflective of a more sober
outlook for regional and extra regional trade. Similar decisions are being
made by shipping lines as we are now seeing a substantial reduction in
the announcements of new vessel constructions and those currently being
manufactured, delayed or staggered delivery dates.
The preceding circumstances as well as the prevailing economic conditions
played a pivotal role in determining the volume of cargo shipped through
the Port during 2016 and will continue to do so in the future. What is critical
in this context is to continue to adapt by becoming a destination of choice
by providing the efficiencies and flexibility that customers expect, while at
the same time maintaining viability.
THE ENERGY SECTOR
The Point Lisas Industrial Estate plays an exceedingly important role in
Trinidad and Tobago’s economic stability by virtue of it hosting a significant
portion of the downstream energy sector. The various plants involved in
the manufacture of methanol, ammonia and urea combine to make Trinidad
and Tobago a global player in the production of these commodities.
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Within recent years however, companies on the Industrial Estate have
been severely affected by shortages of natural gas, the key feedstock in
the production of methanol, ammonia and urea. The natural gas is also a
key component in the production of steel products at ArcelorMittal and NuIron. The result of the undersupply of gas is that plants have been operating
at below their design capacity, thus in some cases affecting their ability
to meet contractual product supply obligations. All this has ultimately
affected profitability of the respective plant operations.
While demand internationally has been on the rise, the positive outlook
for local plants must also be tempered in the short to medium term by
low prices and additional production capacity coming on stream in other

wells. These projects include EOG’s Sercan, BP’s Juniper and the BP-funded
Trinidad Onshore Compression Project (TROC). The upgrade to Powergen’s
plant in Penal to a more efficient system will also reduce the demand for gas
needed in power generation. Projected natural gas savings according to
Powergen is 1.2 billion cubic feet per year.
In addition to the preceding, the Government of Trinidad and Tobago is
expected to enter into a gas supply agreement with Venezuela for the
supply of natural gas from the country’s Dragon Field. A major player in this
is expected to be Shell who will construct a 17 km pipeline from the Dragon
Field to Shell’s Hibiscus Platform. First gas is expected in approximately
three years. The hopefully, temporary closure by Methanol Holdings Trinidad
Limited of two of its plants has fuelled even more speculation about the
unstable future of the downstream energy sector. However, with the
previous mentioned projects in the pipeline the prospects are extremely
promising for a normalisation of supply in the medium term.
It is widely felt that the major Companies on the Industrial Estate with their
multimillion dollar investments will be able to weather the current difficulties
and be restored to normalcy in the not too distant future. A lot is at stake
for the Government as well with respect to jobs and lost taxation revenue
from these companies.

countries, especially the USA. Production of ammonia and methanol in the
USA is expected to become more mainstream due to increased availability
of natural gas from shale and the thrust by the new Trump administration to
boost USA manufacturing and heavy industries.
Comparing this with the local scenario where natural gas production has
decreased from 4.2 billion cubic feet per day in 2013 to 3.3 billion cubic
feet per day in 2016, there is legitimate cause for concern. The Rystad
Energy report that was commissioned by the Energy Chamber indicates
that gas production will continue to fall at the rate of 3% per year. This
is at a slower rate than previous years as new projects are expected to
come on stream in 2017, to buffer declining volumes from older producing

STRATEGIC OUTLOOK
As the Corporation moves into the final year of its three-year Strategic
Plan, there is the need to recalibrate the strategic goals to be in alignment
with the changing economic climate, both locally and internationally, and
paramount in this is the ability of the Corporation to diversify its revenue
streams to reduce the risks associated with relying solely on the traditional
lines of business. In pursuing this objective, PLIPDECO has sought to move
into areas that complement or can form a synergistic relationship with
existing operations. Two such areas include the expansion of the Company’s
warehouse services to also include consolidation of LCL cargo for export
and deconsolidation, storage and delivery of FCL import containers. These
two areas are still in the early developmental stages.

POINT LISAS INDUSTRIAL PORT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT
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Chairman’s Report (continued)
One of the key corporate projects for 2016 was the upgrade of the Port’s
Terminal Operating System to Navis N4. The original system was originally
installed in 2006 and had reached end of product support by Navis. The
upgraded system has resulted in greater operational efficiencies, improved
planning, better accessibility for stakeholders and has more inherent
security features. The reporting capabilities will also facilitate enhanced
review and decision making for management on a more dynamic basis.
The relationship with the majority Union continues to be one of mutual
cooperation and as PLIPDECO moves toward a new bargaining period it is
anticipated that the same principles of sustainable progress that governed
the previous negotiations are expected to apply. In furtherance of this
objective, the Union and the Corporation for the current period arrived
at a common position which saw a portion of the salary increases for staff
being dependent on an increase in operating revenue. In addition, there
was a complete change in the bonus structure that directly pegged the
payout to profitability.
The new paradigm should see a focus of the discussions on labour reform
and the structure of labour on the Port to optimise productivity, efficiency
and costs.
Whilst the planned infrastructural developments, of which the Port
expansion is the centrepiece, remains one of the focal points for long-term
development it must be timed appropriately. PLIPDECO, during 2014 and
2015, saw two successive years of record throughput results that saw
containerised volumes of 208,972 TEUs and 221,836 TEUs respectively.
These numbers suggested that based on that trend, PLIPDECO could have
reached port operating capacity in less than five years. The steep dropoff in throughput of 24% for 2016 dictated however, that PLIPDECO take
a closer look at the expansion initiatives and put more focus instead at
shorter term and lower cost initiatives aimed at boosting productivity and
port capacity.
The phased equipment replacement programme which seeks to optimise
the equipment life cycles by changing equipment on a timely basis
continued in 2016. This approach ensures a move toward consistent fleet
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On September 16th 2016, the Corporation
celebrated its 50th Anniversary and during
this time it has been a journey of success,
sacrifice and sustainable development. It is
hoped that the journey to these 50 years has
formed the building blocks for a new phase
of exponential growth. We look forward to
your support as we shape the new future.
reliability while at the same time effectively managing maintenance costs.
This formed part of the strategy during the year with the acquisition of 1
empty container handler and 6 port trucks. During 2017, the Port will see
the acquisition of 2 new reach stackers, 10 port trailers and 12 forklifts.
The aforementioned acquisitions will be complemented by maintenance
support arrangements with the original equipment manufacturers who will
provide training to staff as well as perform maintenance and repair service.
The outlook for the Industrial Estate is positive as it remains a critical
component of the Corporation’s revenue and operating base. We are
cognisant of the events leading to the closure of ArcelorMittal and the
shutting down of 2 of the Methanol Holdings’ plants. However, the resilience
of the downstream energy sector is such that it should be able to recover
from shocks to the system due to a combination of the cyclical nature of
economic fortunes, the upstream investment programme and keen interest
shown by external players in the Industrial Estate as an investment option.
GOVERNMENT AND REGULATORY
The expected changes to the maritime and shipping landscape expected
to occur with the repeal of the Drogers Act, implementation of the new

Shipping Act and bringing on stream of the Maritime Authority never
materialised in 2016. It is anticipated that with the renewed emphasis on
the maritime sector the Government appointed Standing Committee on
Maritime Development as well as the Line Ministry can exert the necessary
influence in having the Bills passed and having the Maritime Authority
brought on stream.
Customs and Excise also plays a key role in the regulatory framework. It
has been very difficult to get Customs to enact meaningful and substantial
changes with respect to improved procedures and removal of charges and
fees that make the Port of Point Lisas less competitive and more difficult for
importers and exporters. With this in mind the Corporation will continue its
efforts to influence the necessary changes.
The expected implementation of the container scanners did not occur
during 2016 due to challenges faced by Customs, with execution of
the contract. The Corporation had put in place years ago the necessary
infrastructure to facilitate the operation of the scanners, as this System was
seen as key to not only providing an enhanced level of security at the Port
but streamlining the import and export screening. It is the hope that the
scanning process can finally see fruition in 2017.
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)
The Corporation remains committed to its Corporate Social Responsibility
both internally and externally. In providing support to various areas it is our
belief that there needs to be a balanced level of support across areas such
as education, developmental sport and charity. Examples of fulfilment of
these objectives include:
•
•
•
•

Christmas Dinner held in December. This is a testament to the commitment
of workers and to the fact that the Company is a workplace of choice for its
close to 1,000 permanent and casual workforce.
PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS
In the Board making a determination in the recommended dividend
payment, it had to be cognisant of countervailing positions. On the one
hand there is the need to be cognisant of the Corporation’s reduced
profitability and the worsening economic climate both locally and abroad,
while on the other the need to maintain confidence in the financial strength
of the Corporation. In addition, due to the Government’s reduced income it
is also important that profitable state enterprises do their part in continuing
to contribute to the cash position.
Based on the aforementioned, the Board of Directors has recommended a
Dividend Payment to Shareholders of 6 cents per share.
APPRECIATION TO STAKEHOLDERS
As Chairman of the Corporation, and on behalf of the Board and Management
I would like to thank all our stakeholders such as Government, employees,
shipping lines, agents, unions, shippers and other support agencies and
stakeholders for their unwavering commitment and support in making
PLIPDECO a success.
On September 16th 2016, the Corporation celebrated its 50th Anniversary and
during this time it has been a journey of success, sacrifice and sustainable
development. It is hoped that the journey to these 50 years has formed the
building blocks for a new phase of exponential growth. We look forward to
your support as we shape the new future.

Support for the Corporation’s adopted school, Couva Government
Primary.
Support for Southern Games.
Annual Vacation Internship Programme for children of employees.
Internship support for UTT and Cipriani Labour College.

In recognition of its 50th Anniversary, PLIPDECO honoured 300 employees
with tenure of service for 10 years or more. This ceremony was part of the

Ian R. H. Atherly
Chairman
POINT LISAS INDUSTRIAL PORT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2016

MR. ASHLEY TAYLOR

MISSION
To develop, market and operate port, logistics
and industrial estate infrastructure for
optimal economic growth.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW
It was a very challenging year for the Corporation due mainly to a 24%
decline in containerised cargo. The details of the reduction are reflected
in a 14% decline in both imports and exports and a 57% decline in
transhipment.
Most of the major carriers recorded substantial drops in throughput
except Seaboard which showed no change; Zim, a 7% increase; and
Crowley a 31% increase. The upward move by Crowley would have
been as a direct result of their takeover of SeaFreight and the resultant
absorption of their volumes. The SeaFreight volumes showed a 72% drop
as a result. The downward movement in containerised cargo has been
consistent with the weak economic performance and the resultant impact
on domestic trade. The impact was also felt with the ongoing repairs on
Berth 4 as a result of some volumes being temporarily transferred to Port
of Spain by some of the carriers. The situation is expected to normalise
on completion of the infrastructural work. Nevertheless, the Port has thus
far managed to maintain the higher market share for domestic cargo.
General Cargo throughput recorded a reduction of 3% for 2016 compared
with 2015, largely as a result of the reduction in import cargo of 11,405
tonnes or 3.7%. The falloff in general cargo can be traced back to the
considerable reduction in imports of bulk cargo of 8% or 18,000 tonnes.
This was partially offset by the increase in importation of steel, 29% or
12,000 tonnes. Vehicles and equipment also showed an appreciable fall
by 45% or 6,331 tonnes.
The reduced amount in bulk cargo imports was due to unavailability
of Berth 4 and the subsequent usage of the National Energy Dock to
facilitate discharge operations. As with containerised cargo, this situation
should be reversed with the completion of the repair works to the Berth.

CONTAINERISED CARGO

YEAR						
2016

TEUS
168,723

2015
221,836
2014
208,972
2013
192,887
2012
176,451
2011

172,256

2010

188,903

2009

164,183

The increase in steel imports was due to the cessation of production by
ArcelorMittal for local use and the subsequent need to import.
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President’s Report (continued)
Port Productivity
Overall vessel productivity remained fairly constant throughout the
year with the highest levels being experienced during the first quarter.
The middle to latter part of the year saw some additional challenges
brought on by equipment reliability issues. Average gross productivity
for the year was 17.3 moves per hour, while the net was 25.7 moves per
hour.
Warehouse Operations
Commensurate with the reduction in cargo, there were also decreases
in LCL Cargo. For the year, 2,275 containers were unstuffed compared
with 2,780 in 2015, representing an 18% decline. Additionally, 23,490
deliveries were made compared with 26,163 representing a 10% decline.
The Export Warehouse has shown modest growth in TEUs handled
through the continuing alliance with Tropical Shipping. The warehouse
services offering will be expanded to include the processing of FCL
containers for consignees.
Container Examination Station
During 2016, a total of 5,546 containers were examined at the Container
Examination Station (CES). This is a 27% increase over the previous year
when 4,379 containers were examined. The percentage of containers
delivered from the Port that were referred to the CES for further
examination increased from 9.7% in 2015 to 15.1% in 2016. There was
therefore an improvement in the number of containers handled per day
and the processing time per container. The processing time actually
decreased from 97 minutes to 61 minutes.
Although the container scanners were not implemented in 2016,
assurances have been given that the commissioning will finally take
place at the Port although no specific timeline has been given. It must
be reiterated that the scanners, will ultimately lead to a reduction in the
number of containers going to the CES, thereby creating an added level
of efficiency in the import delivery process. The scanners will also play
an important role in addressing the illegal movement of contraband and
misdeclaration of cargo.

24

POINT LISAS INDUSTRIAL PORT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT

GENERAL CARGO

YEAR						
2016

2015

TONNES
304,823
312,757
322,765

2014
316,183
2013
368,552
2012
379,087
2011
341,406
2010
356,774
2009

Harbour Management
The number of vessel calls declined at both the PLIPDECO owned berths
as well as the National Energy berths. Overall, there were 1,323 vessel
calls during the year across both sets of facilities. This was equivalent
to a 13% reduction in calls. The bigger reduction came at the National
Energy berths where an 18% fall-off was seen with a total of 540 calls.
The reduction at the PLIPDECO berths, though not as pronounced, was
substantial at 8%, with a total of 783 vessel calls. The fewer calls at the
National Energy berths can be attributable to the closure of ArcelorMittal
as well as the reduction in gas supply to the key plants, which both
resulted in the curtailment of significant exports.
The fewer calls at the PLIPDECO berths are related to the economic
decline and hence less trade as well as the work being conducted on
Berth 4.

KEY MILESTONES, ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND INITIATIVES
This section of the report outlines the milestones, accomplishments and
initiatives during 2016. The Corporation undertakes initiatives that are
consistent with its Strategic Objectives, Core Values and sustainability
while at the same time ensuring that there is a practical and balanced
allocation of resources.
Equipment
Asset integrity is integral to any sustainable management system. This is
in fact part of the structure of PLIPDECO’s strategic pillars. In furtherance
of this, the maintenance team continued to work with technical personnel
from the original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) to effectively restore
equipment to acceptable levels of performance and prolong asset life.
Support from the OEMs also entails ongoing maintenance support and
training of staff.

Estate Operations
The stable tenant base collectively makes the Industrial Estate a
consistent and predictable revenue stream for the Corporation. For
the year, 9 lease renewals were executed and 14 rent reviews were
completed. The closure of ArcelorMittal and the subsequent placement
under liquidation remain a significant part of the Industrial Estate
landscape. The liquidators are continuing to honour the lease payment
obligations while they seek a buyer for the facility. It must be noted that
on July 27th, 2016, judgement was handed down in favour of PLIPDECO
for a case brought against ArcelorMittal. Cost and limited damages were
awarded to PLIPDECO with $1.9 million in costs subsequently being paid
to PLIPDECO in December.

Any asset integrity programme must have as a key component, phased
replacement of old equipment and acquisition of new ones. During the
year, the Corporation procured and commissioned into service 1 Terex
Empty Container Handler and 6 Port Trucks.

In May 2016, Shell formally closed its lubricant facility on the Industrial
Estate after almost 25 years of operation. The reasons cited include
the high cost of maintenance and declining profitability due to intense
international competition, Shell subsequently sold the facility to a locally
based entity with PLIPDECO approving the assignment of the lease.

At the Port, the upgrade to the HSE Offices were completed. The upgrade
encompassed additional office space, an improved and expanded sick
bay and employee processing area, training room and covered parking
for the company’s ambulance. The upgrade to the Port’s electrical supply
was also completed, resulting in an increase in the load capacity and a
general improvement of the electrical infrastructure such as the kiosk.

Infrastructure
The Corporation embarked upon a very broad range of infrastructural
projects during 2016, spanning the Port and Industrial Estate.
On the Industrial Estate, the major project was the completion of the third
and final phase of the Street Lighting Project that saw the installation of
28 poles and 31 lights on Caspian Drive.
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President’s Report (continued)
Within the Port complex is the 6,000-square-foot Tyre Warehouse. The
warehouse is the main facility used locally for the processing of used
import tyres. During the year, a comprehensive repair of the roof was
undertaken to ensure continued operability of the facility.
The flagship project for the year was the Rehabilitation of Berths 3 and
4. The project involved the complete replacement of the berth face,
strengthening of working area and replacement of fenders.
Corporate
The Caribbean Information and Credit Rating Services Limited (CariCRIS)
performed its third annual assessment of PLIPDECO. The previous rating
of A+ was reaffirmed on completion.
Technology and Systems
The implementation and use of enabling technology and systems
has increasingly been at the forefront of the Corporation’s efforts of
improving efficiency and driving positive and sustainable change. After
10 years, the Navis Sparcs/Express Terminal operating system that was
initially commissioned in 2006 was upgraded to the Navis N4 Terminal
Operating System. Apart from the inevitable need to upgrade due to the
impending cessation of product support by Navis, the new N4 System
provides a considerable improvement in operational capabilities.
These include better reporting, invoicing, data access and planning
functionalities. The system functions on a wireless network that was
designed and implemented by the Corporation’s IT team.
Having a safe, secure data back-up system is the backbone of
effective and timely accessibility to data in times of emergency or
when immediate recovery is required. In furtherance of this, in 2016
management moved away from the outdated methodology of utilising
back-up tapes to an advanced system through online back-up services
provided by the Fujitsu Tier III facility. In doing this, the Corporation is
engaging in international best practice as is done by major companies
locally, regionally and extra-regionally.
PLIPDECO also undertook to utilise best practice even in HSE
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management. Recognising the importance of safety in the complex Port
and Estate operations, drug and alcohol testing is an integral part of
onboarding and general operations. Through the computerised Labour
Allocation and Management System, a randomising feature has been
added that not only streamlines the selection of persons for testing, but
also makes the process more efficient.
Effective July 2016, the International Maritime Organisation amended
the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS) convention to require that all packed
containers for export go through a formal weighing process. A weighing

Industrial Relations
The Corporation through working collaboratively with the Union, was
able to engender a stable industrial relations climate during 2016. This
augurs well for 2017 and beyond as we move into a new bargaining
period.
KEY MILESTONES AND INITIATIVES FOR 2017
This section of the report outlines the projected milestones and initiatives
planned for 2017. These seek to continue and further build upon the
existing development and improvement programmes and initiatives.
Equipment
The equipment acquisition rehabilitation and repair programme will have
a considerable focus on the gantry cranes, mobile harbour cranes and
rubber-tyred gantries and the planned structural and mechanical work
that is to be performed. These will be complemented by maintenance
support and the equipment review that will be undertaken by the OEMs.
A new initiative that will also be a part of the equipment maintenance
and reliability effort is the provision by the OEMs of equipment specific
training for maintenance staff.
New equipment acquisitions for 2017 will include 2 reach stackers, 10
trailers and 12 forklifts.

system for packed containers was already in place at Point Lisas,
however, a decision was taken to make the process more efficient and
technologically advanced, thus ensuring full compliance with the SOLAS
guidelines. The design for the new system included rewriting of the
entire weighbridge software and developing a system with fixed radio
frequency identification (RFID) tags for trucks and trailers coming to the
weighbridge. Each unique tag represents specific information about the
truck or trailer that includes licence number, weight and owner. As a
result, once a truck gets to the weighbridge the truck and trailer would
be uniquely identified by a reader with their information thus allowing
the automatic calculation of the weight of the export container.

Infrastructure
The most important project for 2017 is the completion of the Berths 3
and 4 Rehabilitation Project. This project was initially carded due to the
urgent need to prevent further deterioration of the berth infrastructure.
The urgent need for completion is due to the inaccessibility of the Berth
for some vessel calls, resulting in other options being sought either at
the NEC/Mittal Dock or at Port of Spain. Berth 4, the larger of the two
berths, should be handed back to operations in May, following which,
Berth 3 will commence. Overall project completion is scheduled for
November 2017.
Also expected to be completed and put into place in 2017 is an
additional RTG export bay to aid in streamlining of storage and retrieval
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President’s Report (continued)
of containers. The rehabilitation of the main RTG storage bays will
commence during the year and be done on a phased basis to mitigate
the negative impact on Port operations should an attempt be made
to repair the entire area simultaneously. Based on the approach, the
completion time is projected at 18 months.
Proper storage of documents is a challenge facing many corporate
entities, however PLIPDECO has been taking this issue head-on by
implementing both a physical and electronic Document Management
System. The construction of a Records Management Centre has been
put as a priority project to properly store archived records that are
within the allowed retention periods.
Technology and Systems
The new system for the automated weighing of containers using RFID
technology will be implemented in 2017. RFID tagging of trucks and
trailers will be conducted over a 2-month period for launch during
June. The new process will not only shorten the time taken to weigh a
container but also improve accuracy and make information on container
weight more readily available to stakeholders.
Management is always looking for new and innovative ways to optimise
the cargo handling operations. One of the ways of doing this is through
more effective monitoring processes. In pursuance of this, GPS on
the Port’s operating equipment will be utilised to allow more close
monitoring and tracking. There is also the added benefit of historical
and dynamic review for security purposes.

Call-on Centre to determine if work is available, will be eliminated.
Instead, the new automated system will first determine the number of
workers and the type of skill required. This results in an SMS being sent
to relevant staff members’ phones requesting their availability to work
on the upcoming shift. This will not only improve employee morale but
also increase availability and boost planning effectiveness.
Strategic Initiatives
The implementation and execution of strategic initiatives are fundamental
to the growth, sustainability and profitability of any corporate entity.
PLIPDECO has, in the short to medium term, identified a number of
these initiatives that will drive the aforementioned objectives.
The expansion of the Port is seen as a more medium to long-term
goal especially in light of the considerable reduction in containerised
cargo. For 2017 however, one of the key strategic initiatives is the
further expansion of warehouse services to include receival, storage
and delivery of FCL containers. The existing warehouse facilities will be
utilised to facilitate this process.
Having moved past its 50th year of existence, the Corporation is now into
a new and exciting chapter in its history. This period, while filled with
some challenges, has even more opportunities that will need steadfast
commitment and leadership.
I wish to thank the Board, management, employees, shareholders and
stakeholders for the support that has been given and do look forward to
working with all to achieve the successes that lie ahead.

Upgrades to the CCTV network are part of the plans for 2017 as the
Corporation seeks to improve the security coverage. The changes
include placement of additional cameras in key areas and improvements
to existing cameras at the Port and Industrial Estate.
The current process for selection of casual labour is also to receive a
major overhaul as this process is expected to be substantially automated.
The current system whereby each shift, employees come to the Labour
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Ashley Taylor
President

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Your Directors have pleasure in presenting their Report and the Audited
Financial Statements for the financial year ended December 31st, 2016.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS ($’000)
						
Turnover
Profit before Taxation
(excluding Fair Value Gains)
Taxation
Profit after Taxation
(excluding Fair Value Gains)
Dividend
Retained Earnings
Earnings per Share

GROUP
December
31, 2016
268,843

December
31, 2015
289,588

13,248
(10,439)

15,953
(3,811)

2,809
(3,963)
1,974,423
$6.67

12,142
(5,944)
1,711,676
$2.11

Dividends
The Directors declared a final dividend of six cents (6¢) per share for the
financial year. The dividend will be paid on May 26th, 2017 to shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of members of the Corporation at
the Record Date of May 5th, 2017.
Directors
Mr. Ian R. H. Atherly, Mr. Haroon Fyzool Awardy, Mr. Ibn Llama de Leon,
Mr. Charles Percy, Mr. Prakash Ramnarine and Dr. Dale Sookoo retire by
rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.
Auditors
The Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, retire and being eligible offer
themselves for reappointment.
Directors’, Senior Officers’ and Connected Persons’ Interests
Following, are the Directors, Senior Officers and their connected persons
with interests in the shares of Point Lisas Industrial Port Development
Corporation Limited.

Directors and Senior Officers
Shareholdings
Connected
		
Persons
		Shareholdings
Mr. Ian R. H. Atherly
Nil
Nil
Mr. Haroon Fyzool Awardy
Nil
Nil
Mr. Ibn Llama de Leon
Nil
Nil
Mr. Charles Percy
Nil
Nil
Mr. Prakash Ramnarine
Nil
Nil
Dr. Dale Sookoo
Nil
Nil
Mr. Ernest Ashley Taylor
4,000		
Nil
Mr. Averne Pantin
Nil
Nil
Mr. Harold Ragbir
4,046
Nil
Mr. Niegel Subiah
543
Nil
Mr. Michael Phillip
Nil
Nil
HOLDERS OF THE 10 LARGEST BLOCKS OF SHARES
Issued Share Capital: 39,625,684
Name
The Minister of Finance
RBC Trust (Trinidad & Tobago) Limited
Chan Ramlal Limited
Tatil Life Assurance Limited
Republic Bank Limited
Atlantic Investments Company Limited
Bourse Nominee Account
Trintrust Limited
Olympic Manufacturing Limited
George Aboud & Sons Limited
			
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Balance
20,210,296
2,463,310
1,990,896
1,928,067
1,215,221
1,000,000
900,000
773,759
500,000
483,974

Percentage
51.00%
6.22%
5.02%
4.87%
3.07%
2.52%
2.27%
1.95%
1.26%
1.22%

Michael A. Phillip, Corporate Secretary
April 7th, 2017
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Interfaith Service

The Corporation hosts an Interfaith Service annually
in order to secure blessings and protection from the
Divine Power.
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Administrative Professionals Week

PLIPDECO recognises and celebrates the work of
its Administrative Professionals for their invaluable
contribution to the Corporation. In 2016, these Admins
were treated at a One-Day Retreat at Gasparee Islands.

Vacation Internship Programme

A seven-week Internship Programme is held annually during the months of July and August for
the children of employees. Additionally, an internship arrangement was established for students
enrolled at the University of Trinidad and Tobago (UTT) and Cipriani Labour College.

Annual Vacation Camp

This exciting camp is committed to providing
employees’ children, between the ages of 9 and
12 years with a safe and engaging experience. The
campers are exposed to arts and crafts, field trips
and other educational activities.

POINT LISAS INDUSTRIAL PORT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT

31

(continued)

Cultural Diversity and Recognition

EID-UL-FITR

Tokens were provided to customers in celebration of Divali
and Eid-ul-Fitr. Displays were erected at various locations
in commemoration of Emancipation Day.

DIVALI

EMANCIPATION
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Partners In Education and Sport
COUVA SOUTH GOVERNMENT PRIMARY
SCHOOL GRADUATION
PLIPDECO’s adopted school, Couva South Government
Primary, held its Graduation Ceremony in June 2016.
Awards were presented to the Best Performing Male
and Female pupils.

EDUCATIONAL GRANT
The Corporation recognises the value of education in moving
our society into its next frontier of development and awards
tertiary level scholarships annually to employees’ children at
the tertiary level.

GLOBAL LEARNING AND OBSERVATIONS TO BENEFIT THE
ENVIRONMENT (GLOBE) LEARNING EXPEDITION (GLE)
The Corporation provided financial assistance to students
from Brazil High School in Arima to attend the Global
Learning and Observations to Benefit the Environment
(GLOBE) Learning Expedition in India.
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(continued)

Children’s Christmas Party

Our Christmas Party for children of employees was held
on December 3rd, 2016. The theme was “PLIPDECO’s
Christmas Circus” and over 400 children enjoyed an
afternoon of fun-filled activities and interaction with
clowns, magicians and rides.
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PLIPDECO’s 50th Anniversary Long Service Awards
and Christmas Dinner
In recognition of this significant milestone, the Corporation honoured 300 employees with
tenure of service for 10 years or more. The function was held on December 10th, 2016 at
Centre Pointe Mall, Chaguanas.

Retirements
The Corporation bid farewell to 17 dedicated employees for
their invaluable contribution to the Corporation.
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES
Management is responsible for the following:
•

38

Preparing and fairly presenting the accompanying parent and
consolidated financial statements of Point Lisas Industrial Port
Development Corporation Limited which comprise the parent and
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016
and the parent and consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information;

In preparing these audited financial statements, management utilised
the International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the Institute
of Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago. Where International
Financial Reporting Standards presented alternative accounting
treatments, management chose those considered most appropriate in
the circumstances.

•

Ensuring that the Group keeps proper accounting records;

Nothing has come to the attention of management to indicate that
the Group will not remain a going concern for the next twelve months
from the reporting date; or up to the date the accompanying financial
statements have been authorised for issue, if later.

•

Selecting appropriate accounting policies and applying them in a
consistent manner;

Management affirms that it has carried out its responsibilities as outlined
above.

•

Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal
control that assures security of the Group’s assets, detection/
prevention of fraud, and the achievement of Group operational
efficiencies;

•

Ensuring that the system of internal control operated effectively
during the reporting period;

•

Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and
regulations, including the Companies Act; and

•

Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of
estimates.
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President				Vice President – 			
					Business Services
16 March 2017				
16 March 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the shareholders of Point Lisas Industrial Port Development Corporation Limited
Report on the audit of the parent and consolidated financial statements
Our opinion

Independence

In our opinion, the parent and consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the parent and consolidated financial
position of Point Lisas Industrial Port Development Corporation Limited
(the Parent) and its subsidiary (together, the Group) as at 31 December
2016, and of its parent and consolidated financial performance and
its parent and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

What we have audited
Point Lisas Industrial Port Development Corporation Limited’s Parent
and Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:
•
the parent and consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2016;
•
the parent and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;
•
the parent and consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;
•
the parent and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and
•
the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of
significant accounting policies.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Parent and
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our audit approach
Overview
•

•

•
•

•
•

Overall group materiality of $0.648
million, which represents 5% of the
last 5 years’ average profit before tax
eliminating the fair value gain on the
investment property.
The consolidated group consists of
the parent (Point Lisas Industrial Port
Development Corporation Limited)
and one fully owned subsidiary (Point
Lisas Terminals Limited) all registered
in Trinidad and Tobago.
The audit engagement team was the
auditor for both the parent and the
subsidiary.
A full scope audit was performed on
both the parent and subsidiary.
Areas of audit focus which we
allocated the greatest amount of
resources and effort were:
Valuation of investment properties.
Valuation of net retirement benefit
obligation and casual employee
retirement benefit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
Audit scope
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed
the risks of material misstatement in the parent and consolidated
financial statements. In particular, we considered where management
made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering
future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we
also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls,
including among other matters consideration of whether there was
evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due
to fraud.

consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table
below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to
determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of
our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both
individually and in aggregate on the consolidated financial statements
as a whole.
Overall group materiality

$648,000

How we determined it

5% of the last 5 years’ average profit
before tax after eliminating the impact
of the Fair Value gain on investment
property from each year’s financial
results.

Rationale for the
materiality benchmark
applied

We chose profit before tax as the
benchmark because, in our view, it
is the benchmark against which the
performance of the Group is most
commonly measured by users, and is
a generally accepted benchmark. We
eliminate the impact of the fair value gain
on the investment property in order to set
materiality at a level where the majority
of the financial statement line items will
be in scope for the audit. We chose 5%
which is within the range of acceptable
quantitative materiality thresholds in
auditing standards.

How we tailored our group audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work
to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group,
the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the
Group operates.
A full scope audit was performed on both the parent and subsidiary
resulting in 100% coverage. Both entities were audited by PwC Trinidad.
Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An
audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may
arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated
financial statements.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative
thresholds for materiality, including the overall group materiality for the
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them
misstatements identified during our audit above TT$32,000 as well as
misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting
for qualitative reasons.

financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed
in the context of our audit of the parent and consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the parent and consolidated

Key Audit Matter

How our Audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Valuation of investment properties
See Note 6 to the financial statements.
Investment properties, carried at fair value, were $1,832 million
as at 31 December 2016. Included in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income is $261.6 million of fair
value gains arising from the revaluation of these properties.
The investment properties, comprising the leased lands
included in the industrial estate segment, represent a
significant portion of the asset base of the Corporation.
Management values this asset at fair value using market based
valuation models based on information that is not publicly
available.

We read the valuation report which included all investment properties and
discussed the report with the Valuator. We confirmed that the valuation
approach for each property was in accordance with professional valuation
standards and suitable for use in determining the carrying value of investment
properties as at 31 December 2016.
It was evident from our discussions with management and the Valuator and
our review of the valuation reports that close attention had been paid to
each property’s individual characteristics and its overall quality, geographic
location and desirability as a whole. There was no evidence of management
bias or influence on the Valuator.

Management has engaged the experience and expertise of
the valuation firm, Raymond and Pierre Chartered Valuation
Surveyors, to compute the fair value annually.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
Key Audit Matter

How our Audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Data from the lease contracts of the land size, rent rates,
currency of agreement and lease tenure are provided to the
valuators. This is used by the valuators to determine a present
value of the future cash flows associated with the lands whilst it
is occupied by tenants. Projected cash flows also consider the
renewal of existing leases for a further 30 years as allowed within
the lease agreements. The present value of the vacated lands
at the end of the lease term is included in the estimate of the
fair value. This is determined based on land prices used in the
most recent real estate market transactions and is modified by
the valuators for relative location of the property compared with
the Corporation’s properties.

We challenged the assumptions made by management by performing the
following procedures:

There are significant judgements and estimates to be made in
relation to the valuation of the Group’s investment properties
by independent valuators. The most significant judgement
affecting the valuations include the extension of the leases for an
additional 30 years and the adjusted land prices. The existence
of significant estimation uncertainty, coupled with the material
value of the properties, is why we have given specific audit focus
and attention to this area.

•

We assessed the likelihood of the continued occupation and extension of
the leases using corroboratory evidence on the receivable balances from
those tenants and market data surrounding the tenants’ ability and intent
for continuation of their own operations on the leased properties.

•

We compared current real-estate listings available from reputable
realtors, to the land prices used by the Valuator.

•

We compared the discount rates used to external data and found it to be
appropriate.

We did not identify any contradictory information that would require
adjustment to Management’s assumptions.
We tested on a sample basis the accuracy of the data inputs into the valuation
model by verifying the size of property, rent rates, currency of agreement and
rent expiry dates against signed contractual lease agreements as updated by
“rent-review” agreements and found no exceptions.
We obtained, understood and evaluated management’s valuation method.
We tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculations and obtained
support for the data inputs. We found no material exceptions to these tests.
We assessed the independence and competence of the Valuator used by
management to calculate the fair value of investment properties.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
Key Audit Matter

How our Audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Valuation of net retirement benefit obligation and casual employee
retirement benefit
See Notes 18 a. and 18 b. to the financial statements.

Pension plan assets:

The amounts for the retirement benefit obligation and the casual
employee retirement benefit on the face of the Parent and Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position are presented as (i) the net of the fair
value of the pension plan assets and the present value of the defined
benefit obligation, and (ii) present value of the casual employee
retirement benefit.
The Group sponsors one pension plan for its eligible full time employees
(funded) and a retirement benefit for its casual employees (unfunded).
As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a combined net retirement
benefit obligation of $54.2 million.

We assessed the methodology used for valuing the plan’s assets,
focusing particularly on the valuation of unquoted investments.
For the more judgemental valuations, which depend on unobservable
inputs, we evaluated the assumptions, methodologies and models used
by the Trustee by performing an independent valuation of a sample of
positions, which in some cases resulted in a different valuation to that
calculated by the Trustee. In our view, the differences were within a
reasonable range of outcomes.
Retirement benefit obligations:

Pension plan assets:

We evaluated the key assumptions, in particular the discount rate,
mortality rates and salary increases assumptions as follows:

Management utilises the work of the plan’s institutional Trustee to
perform valuation of the plan’s assets that are not traded on active
markets.

We compared the discount rate used by management to the yield of a
Government of Trinidad & Tobago bond of a similar period and found to
be within an acceptable range.

The Trustee uses a methodology that they have developed to value
these unquoted investments. Significant judgement and assumptions
are utilised because of the limited external evidence to support the
valuations.

We compared the mortality rate to publicly available statistics.
Salary increases were compared to historical increases and taking into
account the current economic climate.

Retirement benefit obligation and casual employee retirement benefit:
Management utilises the work of an actuarial expert to perform certain
calculations with respect to the estimated obligations.

We tested the integrity of the census data used in the actuarial calculation
by comparing it to personnel files.

The present value of the retirement benefit obligations depends on
certain factors that are determined using a number of assumptions in
assessing the obligations.

We assessed the independence and competence of the actuary used by
management to calculate the retirement benefit obligations.

Based on the magnitude and the high degree of estimation uncertainty
in assessing both the asset values and the retirement benefit obligations,
this is an area of focus for the audit.

There were no material exceptions noted in our testing of the retirement
benefit obligations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises Point Lisas Industrial Port Development
Corporation Limited’s Annual Report, which is expected to be made
available to us after the date of our audit opinion.
Our opinion on the parent and consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the parent and consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to
those charged with governance before the annual general meeting of
the Group is held.
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance
for the parent and consolidated financial statements

44

unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the parent and consolidated
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
parent and consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these parent and consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
the parent and consolidated financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
parent and consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the parent and
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

In preparing the parent and consolidated financial statements,
management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the parent and consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the parent
and consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the parent and consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the parent and consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the parent and consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Fatima Aziz Mohammed.

16 March 2017
Port of Spain
Trinidad, West Indies

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)

Parent
As at
31 December
2015
2016			
$’000
$’000		
Notes
		
Assets
			
Non-current assets
608,569
761,667
Property, plant and equipment
1,571,475
1,832,312
Investment properties
15,200
16,254
Deferred income tax assets
320
320
Investment in subsidiary
1,302
1,292
Available-for-sale financial assets
2,196,866

5
6
8 c.
1 a.
7 c.

761,667
1,832,312
16,254
-1,292

608,569
1,571,475
15,200
-1,302

2,611,525

2,196,546

16,411
-34,551
739
144,745

14,731
40,194
29,647
829
67,401

194,632			

196,446

152,802

Total assets		

2,807,971

2,349,348

139,968
(32)
252,301
1,974,423

139,968
(32)
121,561
1,711,676

2,366,660

1,973,173

2,611,845			

			
Current assets
14,731
16,411
Inventory
9
40,194
-Held to maturity assets
7 b.
28,744
33,668
Trade and other receivables
10
90
-Taxation recoverable		
66,579
144,553
Cash and cash equivalents
11
150,338
2,347,204

2,806,477

			
Equity and liabilities
			
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
139,968
139,968
Stated capital
12
(32)
(32)
Unallocated ESOP shares
14
121,561
252,301
Revaluation reserves
15
1,709,582
1,972,342
Retained earnings		
1,971,079
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Group
As at
31 December
2016
2015
$’000
$’000

2,364,579			
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
(EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)

Parent
As at
31 December
2015
2016			
$’000
$’000		
Notes
			
Non-current liabilities
59,459
161,945
Long and medium-term borrowings
39,188
31,680
Retirement benefit obligation
21,615
22,500
Casual employee retirement benefit
75,624
101,270
Deferred income tax liabilities
61,267
60,198
Deferred lease rental income
257,153

377,593			

		
55,195
-13,450
14,761
4,217
4,392
43,582
43,702
2,528
1,450
118,972

16
18 a.
18 b.
8 c.
19

Current liabilities
Floating rate bonds 2012 - 2016
16
Long and medium-term borrowings
16
Deferred lease rental income
19
Trade and other payables
20
Current income tax liabilities		

64,305			

376,125

441,898

2,347,204

2,806,477

Total liabilities		
Total equity and liabilities		

Group
As at
31 December
2016
2015
$’000
$’000
161,945
31,680
22,500
101,270
60,198

59,459
39,188
21,615
75,624
61,267

377,593

257,153

-14,761
4,392
42,918
1,647

55,195
13,450
4,217
43,609
2,551

63,718

119,022

441,311

376,175

2,807,971

2,349,348

The notes on pages 53 to 126 are an integral part of these parent and consolidated financial statements.
On 16 March 2017, the Board of Directors of Point Lisas Industrial Port Development Corporation Limited authorised these parent and consolidated
financial statements for issue.

Director

Director
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2015
2016			
$’000
$’000		
Notes
289,588
(95,783)

268,843
(92,367)

Revenue
Cost of providing services

193,805

176,476

Gross profit		

			
71,275
261,610
Unrealised fair value gains on investment properties
(100,510)
(94,828)
Administrative expenses
(76,692)
(67,948)
Other operating expenses

21
22

6
22
22

Group
Year ended
31 December
2016
2015
$’000
$’000
268,843
(91,400)

289,588
(94,743)

177,443

194,845

261,610
(95,414)
(67,948)

71,275
(100,970)
(76,692)

87,878
5,318
(6,546)

275,310
5,994
(6,825)

Operating profit		
Investment income
7 d.
Finance costs		

275,691
5,994
(6,827)

88,458
5,318
(6,548)

86,650
(3,647)

274,479
(10,047)

Profit before taxation		
Taxation charge
8 a.

274,858
(10,439)

87,228
(3,811)

83,003

264,432

Profit for the year		

264,419

83,417

			
Other comprehensive income
			
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
(25)
(10)
Change in value of available-for-sale financial assets
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7 c.

(10)

(25)

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)
(EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2015
2016			
$’000
$’000		
Notes
			
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
			
Remeasurements of:
-127,961
Gain on revaluation of land, buildings and own site improvements
(3,818)
5,723
Retirement benefit obligation
(153)
1,411
Casual employee retirement benefit
79,007

399,517

15 a.
18 a.
18 b.

Total comprehensive income for the year		

Group
Year ended
31 December
2016
2015
$’000
$’000

127,961
5,723
1,411

-(3,818)
(153)

399,504

79,421

			
Earnings per share
210¢

667¢

Basic earnings per share

13

667¢

211¢

The notes on pages 53 to 126 are an integral part of these parent and consolidated financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)

Parent				Investment Unallocated
		
Stated Revaluation revaluation
ESOP
Notes
capital
reserves
reserves
shares
		 $’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Year ended 31 December 2016
Balance as at 1 January 2016		
139,968
121,197
364
(32)
Transfer of revaluation reserve to
retained earnings
15
-2,789
--Change in tax rate and other adjustments
8 c.
----Comprehensive income
- Profit for the year		
----	–	
Other comprehensive income
- Change in value of available-for-sale
financial assets
7 c.
--(10)
-- Gain on revaluation of land, buildings
and own site improvements
15 a.
-127,961
--- Remeasurements of retirement benefit obligation
18 a.
----- Remeasurements of casual employee
retirement benefit
18 b.
----Transactions with owners
- Dividends
12 a.
----Balance as at 31 December 2016		
Year ended 31 December 2015
Balance as at 1 January 2015 - Restated		
Transfer of revaluation reserve to
retained earnings
15
Comprehensive income
- Profit for the year		
Other comprehensive income
- Change in value of available-for-sale
financial assets
7 c.
- Remeasurements of retirement benefit obligation
18 a.
- Remeasurements of casual employee
retirement benefit
18 b.
Transactions with owners
- Dividends
12 a.
Balance as at 31 December 2015		
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Shareholders’
equity
$’000

1,709,582

1,971,079

(2,789)
(2,054)
264,432
--

-(2,054)
264,432
(10)

-5,723

127,961
5,723

1,411

1,411

(3,963)

(3,963)

139,968

251,947

354

(32)

1,972,342

2,364,579

139,968

123,718

389

(32)

1,633,973

1,898,016

--

2,521

--

--	–	

83,003

83,003

--

(2,521)

--

--

--

---

---

(25)
--

---

-(3,818)

(25)
(3,818)

--

--

--

--

(153)

(153)

--

--

--

--

(5,944)

(5,944)

139,968

121,197

364

The notes on pages 53 to 126 are an integral part of these parent and consolidated financial statements.
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Retained
earnings
$’000

(32)

1,709,582

1,971,079

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)
(EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)

Group				Investment Unallocated
		
Stated Revaluation revaluation
ESOP
Notes
capital
reserves
reserves
shares
		 $’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Year ended 31 December 2016
Balance as at 1 January 2016		
139,968
121,197
364
(32)
Transfer of revaluation reserve to
retained earnings
15
-2,789
--Change in tax rate and other adjustments
8 c.
----Comprehensive income
- Profit for the year		
----Other comprehensive income
- Change in value of available-for-sale
financial assets
7 c.
--(10)
-- Gain on revaluation of land, buildings
and own site improvements
15 a.
-127,961
--- Remeasurements of retirement benefit obligation
18 a.
----- Remeasurements of casual employee
retirement benefit
18 b.
----Transactions with owners
- Dividends
12 a.	–	
---Balance as at 31 December 2016		
Year ended 31 December 2015
Balance as at 1 January 2015 - Restated		
Transfer of revaluation reserve to
retained earnings
15
Comprehensive income
- Profit for the year		
Other comprehensive income
- Change in value of available-for-sale
financial assets
7 c.
- Remeasurements of retirement benefit obligation
18 a.
- Remeasurements of casual employee
retirement benefit
18 b.
Transactions with owners
- Dividends
12 a.
Balance as at 31 December 2015		

Retained
earnings
$’000

Shareholders’
equity
$’000

1,711,676

1,973,173

(2,789)
(2,054)
264,419
--

-(2,054)
264,419
(10)

-5,723

127,961
5,723

1,411

1,411

(3,963)

(3,963)

139,968

251,947

354

(32)

1,974,423

2,366,660

139,968

123,718

389

(32)

1,635,653

1,899,696

--

(2,521)

--

--

2,521

--

--

--

--

--

83,417

83,417

---

---

(25)
--

---

-(3,818)

(25)
(3,818)

--

--

--

--

(153)

(153)

--

--

--

--

(5,944)

(5,944)

139,968

121,197

364

(32)

1,711,676

1,973,173

The notes on pages 53 to 126 are an integral part of these parent and consolidated financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)

Parent
Year ended
31 December
2015
2016			
$’000
$’000		
Notes
59,303

42,938

Cash generated from operating activities

11 d.

			
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
(5,572)
(5,834)
Interest paid		
53,731

37,104			

(4,859)
(5,048)
Income tax paid		
			
48,872
32,056
Net cash generated from operating activities		
			
Cash flows from investing activities
(29,151)
(44,200)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
5
(372)
-Purchase of available-for-sale financial asset
7 c.
140
17
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment		
-40,194
Proceeds from held to maturity assets		
4,703
5,081
Interest received		
(24,680)

1,092

Net cash used in investing activities		

			
Cash flows from financing activities
-(55,195)
Repayment of floating rate bonds		
(4,911)
(9,823)
Repayment of long and medium-term borrowings		
2,350
113,620
Proceeds from long and medium-term borrowings		
(5,944)
(3,963)
Dividends paid		

42,526
(5,836)
36,690

59,080
(5,574)
53,506

(5,264)

(5,002)

31,426

48,504

(44,200)
-17
40,194
5,081

(29,151)
(372)
140
-4,703

1,092

(24,680)

(55,195)
(9,823)
113,620
(3,963)

-(4,911)
2,350
(5,944)

(8,505)

44,639

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities		

44,639

(8,505)

15,687

77,787

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		

77,157

15,319

50,558

66,579

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year		

67,401

51,748

334

187

187

334

66,579

144,553

144,745

67,401

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

The notes on pages 53 to 126 are an integral part of these parent and consolidated financial statements.
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Group
Year ended
31 December
2016
2015
$’000
$’000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
1

Incorporation and principal activities
Point Lisas Industrial Port Development Corporation Limited (the Corporation) was incorporated on 16 September 1966 under the laws of
the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago and has a primary listing on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange. Its registered office is located at
PLIPDECO House, Orinoco Drive, Point Lisas Industrial Estate, Point Lisas, Couva, Trinidad, West Indies. The Corporation Sole (Government of
the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago) is owner of 51% of the issued share capital.
Point Lisas Terminals Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary, was incorporated in the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago in 1981 and is solely involved
in the supply of labour to the parent company for its cargo handling operations at the port.
Point Lisas Industrial Port Development Corporation Limited and its wholly owned subsidiary, Point Lisas Terminals Limited (together, the
Group), are engaged in the following provision of services:
Industrial estate
management

Development and maintenance of onshore infrastructure, such as roads, lighting, drainage and including a Free Zone area,
for the purpose of leasing.

Cargo handling

Provision of cargo handling services for import, export and transhipment vessels. The Port facilitates the receipt, storage
and delivery of containerised, dry and liquid bulks, breakbulk and general cargo.

Marine

Coordination of all movement of vessels at the Port and neighbouring piers, inclusive of the berthing and unberthing
operations as well as mooring and unmooring services.

Warehousing

Provision of less than container load warehousing services for both import and export trade and non-trade cargo. The less
than container load warehousing service for export cargo facilitates intra-regional trade.

Security

Provision of security support to tenants on the Industrial Estate and Port users. Matters relating to the Port and Ship-toShore activities as they relate to the International Ship and Port Facility Security (ISPS) are handled by this unit.

a.

Investment in subsidiary
The Group’s subsidiary at 31 December 2016 consists of Point Lisas Terminals Limited which is 100% owned for $320,002 (320,002 shares
of no par value) (2015: $320,002 (320,002 shares of no par value)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
2

Transactions with related parties

Labour (See Note 1)
Post retirement benefits
Key management compensation
a.

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

52,264
168
2,773

58,823
766
2,589

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include those of the parent company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Point Lisas Terminals Limited.
All inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains/losses have been eliminated in the preparation of the Group's financial
statements.
(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
In the parent company financial statements, the investment in the subsidiary is shown at cost less impairment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
2

Transactions with related parties (continued)
a.

Principles of consolidation (continued)
(ii) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that is, as
transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.
(iii) Disposal of subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

3

Critical estimates, judgements and errors
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results.
Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies.
This Note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items which are more likely to
be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning out to be wrong. Detailed information about each of these estimates and
judgements is included in Notes referred to below together with information about the basis of calculation for each affected line item in the
financial statements. In addition, this Note also explains where there have been actual adjustments this year as a result of changes to previous
estimates.
a.

Significant estimates and judgements
The areas involving significant estimates or judgements are:
• Estimation of fair values of land and buildings and investment property – Notes 5 and 6
• Estimation of retirement benefit pension obligation – Note 18 a.
• Estimation of casual employee retirement benefit – Note 18 b.
• Estimation of income taxes
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3

Critical estimates, judgements and errors (continued)
a.

Significant estimates and judgements (continued)
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Income taxes
Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
See Note 8 c.
4

Financial risk management
The Group has exposure to the following risks:
a.

Credit risk
(i) Risk management
(ii) Security
(iii) Credit quality
(iv) Impaired trade receivables
(v) Exposure to credit risk

b.

Liquidity risk

c.

Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
(ii) Interest rate risk
(iii) Price risk

d. Capital risk management
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4

Financial risk management (continued)
The Note contains information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks and the objectives, policies and processes for managing
and measuring the risk. Further quantitative disclosures are also included in the referred Notes.
a.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that its customers and counterparties may cause a financial loss by failing to discharge
their contractual obligations. Credit risk arises from cash equivalents, deposits with financial institutions as well as outstanding receivables.
The credit quality of customers, their financial position, past experience and other factors are taken into consideration in assessing credit
risk. Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by counterparties. There was no concentration of risk due to the
number and diversity of operations of the customer base.
There were no changes in the policies and procedures for managing credit risk compared with prior year.
(i) Risk management
Cash and deposits are held with a number of reputable financial institutions, in amounts varying between $8,000 and $74,000,000
(2015: $7,000 and $26,000,000). The maximum limit with any one financial institution is $100,000,000.
(ii) Security
There are no trade receivables for which the Group has obtained any form of guarantee, deeds of undertaking or letters of credit.
(iii) Credit quality
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to historical information about
counterparty default rates:
				
2016
2015
$’000
$’000
Cash at bank
Cash at bank

144,585

67,267

The rest of the statement of financial position line item cash and cash equivalents comprises cash in hand.
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Financial risk management (continued)
a.

Credit risk (continued)
(iii) Credit quality (continued)

Trade receivables
All counterparties below do not have external credit ratings.
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Group 2
4,780
Group 1 - new customers (less than 6 months).
Group 2 - existing customers (more than 6 months) with no defaults in the past.
Group 3 - existing customers (more than 6 months) with some defaults in the past. All defaults were fully recovered.

2,723

(iv) Impairment trade receivables
The main considerations for impairment include whether payments are in arrears for trade receivables. It is done on a specific loss
component which relates to significant specific exposures (See Note 10).
(v) Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum exposure to credit risk:
Parent				
Provision
Fully
Past		
for
performing
due
Impaired
impairment
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
31 December 2016
Cash at bank
Trade receivables
Other receivables (excluding prepayments)

58

POINT LISAS INDUSTRIAL PORT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT

Total
$’000

144,395
4,780
5,519

-17,331
--

-1,399
--

-(1,399)
--

144,395
22,111
5,519

154,694

17,331

1,399

(1,399)

172,025

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
4

Financial risk management (continued)
a.

Credit risk (continued)
(v) Exposure to credit risk (continued)
Parent				
Provision
Fully
Past		
for
performing
due
Impaired
impairment
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
31 December 2015
Certificates of investment in T&T Government bonds
Cash at bank
Trade receivables
Other receivables (excluding prepayments)

Total
$’000

40,194
66,447
2,723
6,086

--10,092
--

--1,399
--

--(1,399)
--

40,194
66,447
12,815
6,086

115,450

10,092

1,399

(1,399)

125,542

Group			
31 December 2016
Cash at bank
Trade receivables
Other receivables (excluding prepayments)

144,585
4,780
6,426

-17,331
--

-1,399
--

-(1,399)
--

144,585
22,111
6,426

155,791

17,331

1,399

(1,399)

173,122

40,194
67,267
2,723
6,989

--10,092
--

--1,399
--

--(1,399)
--

40,194
67,267
12,815
6,989

117,173

10,092

1,399

(1,399)

127,265

31 December 2015
Certificates of investment in T&T Government bonds
Cash at bank
Trade receivables
Other receivables (excluding prepayments)

The Group does not hold any collateral in relation to these assets.
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Financial risk management (continued)
b.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due.
The Group’s liquidity risk management process is measured and monitored by senior management within the Group. This process includes:
• Monitoring cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of
collateral which can be used to secure facilities.
• Maintaining committed lines of credit.
• Maintaining liquidity ratios.
There were no changes in the policies and procedures for managing liquidity risk compared with prior year.
Parent and Group
				More
		
1-2
2-5
than
< 1 year
years
years
5 years
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
31 December 2016
Borrowings
21,011
20,820
58,719
93,075
Trade payables
10,561
----

Contractual
cash flows
$’000

Carrying
amount
$’000

193,625
10,561

176,706
10,561

93,075

204,186

187,267

				
31 December 2015
Borrowings
75,296
9,338
22,367
38,353
Trade payables
10,579
----

145,354
10,579

128,104
10,579

Total

155,933

138,683

Total

31,572

85,875

20,820

9,338

58,719

22,367

38,353

The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using the borrowing rates and the facilities drawn down at year end as disclosed in Note
16. There were no fixed rate loans as at 31 December 2016.
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Financial risk management (continued)
c.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of the financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
The Group takes on exposure to market risks from changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. Market risk exposures are measured
using sensitivity analysis.
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to the US dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.
The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by the following:
• Ensuring that the net exposure in foreign assets and liabilities is kept to an acceptable level by monitoring currency positions.
• Holding foreign currency balances.
• Invoicing only in an exchange currency like the US$ or in TT$.
There were no changes in the policies and procedures for managing foreign currency risk compared with prior year.
The impact on the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income at 31 December 2016 if the US$ strengthened/weakened
against the TT$ by an average rate of 5% is a loss or gain of $1,808,964 (2015: $583,465) respectively.
(ii) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market rates.
The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained profits and borrowings. The Group is also exposed to interest rate
risk on cash held on deposit and borrowings. The Group manages the interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and
variable rate instruments. There were no changes in the policies and procedures for managing interest rate risk compared with prior
year.
At 31 December 2015 and 2016, there were no fixed rate interest borrowings for the Group. The carrying amounts and their sensitivity
to interest rate fluctuations are disclosed in Note 16 d. The contractual cash flows of these floating rate borrowings are also disclosed
in Note 16 e.
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Financial risk management (continued)
c.

Market risk (continued)
(iii) Price risk
The Group’s exposure to equity securities price risk arises from investments held by the Group and classified in the statement of
financial position as available-for-sale.
The Group is not exposed to commodity price risk. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group
diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group. There were no changes in
the policies and procedures for managing interest rate risk compared with prior year.

d. Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘shareholders’ equity’ as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt. Gearing is the measure of financial leverage, demonstrating the degree to
which the Group’s activities are funded by owner’s funds versus creditor’s funds.
The Group’s policy is to keep the ratio at less than or equal to 50%.
There were no changes in the policies and procedures for managing capital risk management compared with prior year.
There are no externally imposed capital requirements that the Group must adhere to.
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Financial risk management (continued)
d. Capital risk management (continued)
The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were as follows:
				
2016
2015
Parent
$’000
$’000
Total borrowings
Less: cash and cash equivalents

176,706
(144,553)

128,104
(66,579)

Net debt
Total equity

32,153
2,364,579

61,525
1,971,079

Total capital

2,396,732

2,032,604

1%

3%

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

176,706
(144,745)

128,104
(67,401)

Gearing ratio

Group
Total borrowings
Less: cash and cash equivalents
Net debt
Total equity

31,961
2,366,660

60,703
1,973,173

Total capital

2,398,621

2,033,876

1%

3%

Gearing ratio
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Financial risk management (continued)
e.

Financial instruments by category
Parent

Loans and receivables
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Trade receivables
Other receivables (excluding prepayments)
Cash at bank

22,111
5,519
144,395

12,815
6,086
66,447

Available-for-sale financial assets
Held to maturity assets

172,025
1,292
--

85,348
1,302
40,194

173,317

126,844

10,561
25,979
5,551
176,706

10,579
24,650
6,244
128,104

218,797

169,577

The Company has no assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities
Liabilities as per statement of financial position
Trade payables
Other payables (excluding statutory liabilities)
Due to subsidiary
Borrowings

The Company has no liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
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Financial risk management (continued)
e.

Financial instruments by category (continued)
Group

Loans and receivables
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Trade receivables
Other receivables (excluding prepayments)
Cash at bank

Available-for-sale financial assets
Held to maturity assets

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

22,111
6,402
144,585

12,815
6,989
67,267

173,098

87,071

1,292
--

1,302
40,194

174,390

128,567

10,561
27,832
176,706

10,579
27,445
128,104

215,099

166,128

The Company has no assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Other financial liabilities
Liabilities as per statement of financial position
Trade payables
Other payables (excluding statutory liabilities)
Borrowings
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Property, plant and equipment – parent/group
The subsidiary has no property, plant and equipment.

					 Berths			 Equipment,
			
Own Site
Estate
and
Port		 furniture and
		
Land improvements infrastructure
piers
equipment
Buildings
fittings
		
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Year ended 31 December 2016
Opening net book amount
159,140
53,189
63,226
152,127
98,139
36,766
14,538
Additions
----942
-3,334
Transfers from capital
work in progress
-578
-8,393
4,163
275
17,305
Revaluation
96,480
29,703
---15,270
-Disposals/adjustments
------(8)
Depreciation
-(4,955)
(774)
(4,580)
(12,948)
(4,256)
(5,034)

Total
$’000

31,444
39,924

608,569
44,200

(30,714)
----

-141,453
(8)
(32,547)

Closing net book amount

255,620

78,515

62,452

155,940

90,296

48,055

30,135

40,654

761,667

At 31 December 2016
Cost/valuation
Accumulated depreciation

255,620
--

78,515
--

83,983
(21,531)

229,018
(73,078)

248,280
(157,984)

48,055
--

88,352
(58,217)

40,654
--

1,072,477
(310,810)

Net book amount

255,620

78,515

62,452

155,940

90,296

48,055

30,135

40,654

761,667

90,480
--

56,969
--

61,158
--

156,540
--

107,645
2,991

41,069
--

14,585
2,811

15,796
23,349

544,242
29,151

--

1,138

3,402

--

1,221

--

1,940

68,660
---

--(4,918)

--(1,334)

159,140

53,189

Year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount
Additions
Transfers from capital
work in progress
Transfers from
investment property
Disposals/adjustments
Depreciation
Closing net book amount
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Capital
work in
progress
$’000
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63,226

--(4,413)
152,127

(7,701)

--(13,718)

--(4,303)

-(403)
(4,395)

----

98,139

36,766

14,538

31,444

-68,660
(403)
(33,081)
608,569
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Property, plant and equipment – parent/group (continued)

					 Berths			 Equipment,
			
Own Site
Estate
and
Port		 furniture and
		
Land improvements infrastructure
piers
equipment
Buildings
fittings
		
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
At 31 December 2015
Cost/valuation
159,140
63,001
83,983
220,625
243,173
45,369
67,743
Accumulated depreciation
-(9,812)
(20,757)
(68,498)
(145,034)
(8,603)
(53,205)

Capital
work in
progress
$’000

Total
$’000

31,444
--

914,478
(305,909)

Net book amount

159,140

53,189

63,226

152,127

98,139

36,766

14,538

31,444

608,569

At 31 December 2014
Cost/valuation - Restated
Accumulated depreciation

90,480
--

61,863
(4,894)

80,581
(19,423)

220,625
(64,085)

238,961
(131,316)

45,369
(4,300)

64,012
(49,427)

15,796
--

817,687
(273,445)

Net book amount

90,480

56,969

61,158

156,540

107,645

41,069

14,585

15,796

544,242

a.

Accounting policy
Land, own site improvements and buildings comprise mainly properties used in connection with the port operations and offices and
are shown at fair value based on valuations by external independent valuators, less subsequent depreciation for buildings and own site
improvements (land is not depreciated). Independent valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the fair value of a
revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land, own site improvements and buildings are credited to other comprehensive
income and shown as revaluation reserves in shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged
in other comprehensive income and debited against the revaluation reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount
of the asset charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost
is transferred from “revaluation reserve” to retained earnings. See Note 15.
All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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Property, plant and equipment – parent/group (continued)
a.

Accounting policy (continued)
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation on assets (except land) is calculated at varying rates to allocate cost or revalued amounts of each asset to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation is calculated as follows:
Own site improvements
Estate infrastructure
Berths and piers
Port equipment
Buildings
Equipment, furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Computer equipment
Other assets

-

5%
1%
2%
6.67%
3.33%
12.5% - 25%
25%
33.3%
10% - 25%

straight-line basis
straight-line basis
straight-line basis
straight-line basis
straight-line basis
reducing balance basis
reducing balance basis
reducing balance basis
reducing balance basis

Based on independent professional advice, buildings are being written off over their estimated useful lives, on the straight-line basis, over
a period not in excess of thirty years.
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting period. Where the carrying amount
of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. Gains and losses
on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts and are recorded within the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. On disposal of revalued assets, the amounts included in the revaluation reserves are transferred to retained
earnings.
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)
b.

Significant fair value estimate
The land, buildings and own site improvements were last revalued on 31 December 2016 by independent professional qualified valuers,
Raymond & Pierre Chartered Valuation Surveyors.
The following table analyses the non-financial assets carried at fair value. The different levels of fair value measurements have been defined
in Note 24 c.:

Fair value measurements using
Quoted prices in 		
Significant
active markets for
Significant other
unobservable
identical assets
observable inputs
inputs
(level 1)
(level 2)
(level 3)
$’000
$’000
$’000
As at 31 December 2016 			
Recurring fair value measurements			
– Land
--	–	
255,620
– Own site improvements
--78,515
– Buildings
--48,055
			
As at 31 December 2015			
Recurring fair value measurements			
– Land
--	–	
159,140
– Own site improvements
--53,189
– Buildings
--36,766
There were no transfers between levels during the year.
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)
b.

Significant fair value estimate (continued)
The Group’s management annually reviews the latest valuations performed by the independent valuator for financial reporting purposes. At
each financial year end the Finance department:
• verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;
• assesses property valuation movements when compared to the prior year valuation report;
• holds discussions with the independent valuator.
The property has been developed as an individual estate with its own port facilities with emphasis on energy-based industries. The existing
use is the highest and best to which the property could be put. The size and layout of the property was taken into consideration in the
valuation. Based on the valuation the buildings appeared to be modern, structurally sound and in fair to good decorative condition and
assumed to be adequate and appropriate for a structure of its size, type and use.
Level 3 fair values of land has been derived using the Sales Comparison Approach. Sales prices of comparable land in close proximity are
adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size. The most significant input into this valuation approach is price per square
foot.
Level 3 fair value of buildings and own site improvements have been derived using the Depreciated Replacement Cost Method. Under the
Depreciated Replacement Cost Method, the gross replacement costs of the buildings were estimated and appropriate deductions were
made for economic and functional obsolescence and environmental factors in order to arrive at a net or depreciated replacement cost.
Gross replacement costs include the costs of infrastructural works and professional fees. The most significant input into this valuation
approach is the construction price per square foot.
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)
b.

Significant fair value estimate (continued)
The subsidiary has no property, plant and equipment.
		
Land
$’000

Own Site
Improvements
$’000

Buildings
$’000

Total
$’000

Opening balance 1 January 2016
Additions/transfers
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
– Depreciation
Gains recognised in other comprehensive income

159,140
--

53,189
578

36,766
275

249,095
853

-96,480

(4,955)
29,703

(4,256)
15,270

(9,211)
141,453

Closing balance 31 December 2016

255,620

78,515

48,055

382,190

Opening balance 1 January 2015
Additions/transfers
Transfers from Investment Property
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
– Depreciation

90,480
-68,660

56,969
1,138
--

41,069
---

188,518
1,138
68,660

(4,918)

(4,303)

Closing balance 31 December 2015

159,140

53,189

36,766

The subsidiary has no property, plant and equipment.

--

(9,221)
249,095
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)
c.

Carrying amounts that would have been recognised if land, buildings and own site improvements were stated at cost
If the land, buildings and own site improvements were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

99,759
(63,799)

98,906
(56,846)

Net carrying amount

35,960

42,060

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

d. Assets pledged as security
Refer to Note 16 b. for information on property, plant and equipment pledged as security by the Group.
e.

Capital commitments

Authorised and contracted for
and not provided for in the financial statements				
22,859
37,725
(i) Depreciation charge
Depreciation expense has been included in ‘other operating expenses’ in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
(ii) Borrowing cost capitalised
Included within the additions during the year is borrowing cost of $4,165,950 (2015: $300,779). The capitalisation rate is the interest
rate applicable to the specific borrowing for the rehabilitation of the berths, in this case 4.75% (2015: 3.25%).
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31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
6

Investment properties
2015
$’000

PARENT
2016		
$’000		

			
1,509,285
1,511,900
(68,660)
-71,275
261,610

GROUP
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

30-year leases:
At beginning of year
Transfer to owner-occupied property (Note 5)
Unrealised fair value gains

1,511,900
-261,610

1,509,285
(68,660)
71,275

1,511,900
59,575

1,773,510
58,802

At end of year
96-years and longer leases

1,773,510
58,802

1,511,900
59,575

1,571,475

1,832,312

At the end of year

1,832,312

1,571,475

a.

Accounting policy
Investment properties, principally comprising freehold and leasehold land, are held for long term rental yields and are not occupied by
the Group. Investment properties are carried at fair value, representing open market value determined annually by independent external
valuators. The fair value of investment properties reflects rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental income from future
leases in light of current market conditions. Changes in fair value are recorded in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

b.

Significant fair value estimate
The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31 December 2016 by independent professional qualified valuers, Raymond & Pierre
Chartered Valuation Surveyors, who hold a recognised relevant professional qualification and have recent experience in the locations and
segments of the investment properties valued.
The Group’s Finance department reviews the valuations performed by the independent valuers for financial reporting purposes. This
department reports directly to the Vice President of Business Services. Discussions of valuations processes and results are held between
the Vice President of Business Services, the Estate department, the Finance department and the independent valuers at least once every
quarter, in line with the Group’s quarterly reporting dates.
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6

Investment properties (continued)
b.

Significant fair value estimate (continued)
At each financial reporting date the Finance department:
• verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;
• assesses property valuation movements when compared to the prior valuation report;
• holds discussions with the independent valuator.
Thirty year leases are stated at fair value. The open market value represents the best price at which interest in a property might reasonably
be expected to be sold at the end of the financial year. For all investment properties, their current use equates to the highest and best use.
The valuation is based upon Open Market Value which comprises both the Investment Method and Direct Capital Comparison Method.
Under the Investment Method, the estimated net rental income from a property by a years purchase (multiplier) is calculated to arrive at
a capital value for the property. The net income is derived from an estimated gross income less outgoings i.e. rates, insurance, repairs and
management allowance. The present value is obtained by discounting at the risk free rate of 5%. The valuation also assumes that all tenants
will have renewal clauses in their current leases which will extend the lease for an additional 30 years. Under the Direct Capital Comparison
Method, sales of comparable acreage of the properties are analysed to determine a value for the leased land under consideration.
The following table analyses the non-financial assets carried at fair value. The different levels of fair value measurements have been defined
in Note 24 c.:
Quoted prices in 		
Significant
active markets for
Significant other
unobservable
identical assets
observable inputs
inputs
(level 1)
(level 2)
(level 3)
$’000
$’000
$’000
As at 31 December 2016			
Recurring fair value measurements			
– Investment properties
--1,773,510
			
As at 31 December 2015 			
Recurring fair value measurements			
– Investment properties
--1,511,900
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6

Investment properties (continued)
b.

Significant fair value estimate (continued)
There were no transfers between levels during the year. Level 3 fair values have been derived using the Open Market Value Method. Evidence
of arm’s length open market transactions of similar lands were analysed and the results applied to the subject lands after taking into
consideration appropriate adjustments for location, size and other relevant factors. The most significant input into this valuation approach
is future rental cash inflows based on the actual location and quality of the properties and supported by the terms of any existing leases.
The methods used in the valuation of land, building and own site improvement have been classified as level 3 as the inputs used in the
methods are not readily available to the public and assumptions applied are based on the experience and judgement of the valuators prior
to being reviewed and adopted by Management.

c.

Other disclosures
2015
$’000

PARENT
2016		
$’000		

			
			
75,239
84,029
(1,822)
(1,201)

GROUP

The following amounts have been recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Lease rental income (Note 19)
Costs arising from investment properties

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

84,029
(1,201)

75,239
(1,822)
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6

Investment properties (continued)
d. Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of the fair value of investment property is sensitive to the assumptions used. The following table summarises how the fair
value as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 would have changed as a result of a change in the discount rate used of 5%.
2016

(Decrease)/increase in fair value

1% pa
increase
$’000

1% pa
decrease
$’000

(260,470)

355,380
2015

(Decrease)/increase in fair value
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1% pa
increase
$’000

1% pa
decrease
$’000

(234,645)

317,830

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
7

Financial assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents)
2015
$’000

PARENT
2016		
$’000		

40,194
1,302
12,815
6,086

-1,292
22,111
5,519

Held to maturity assets (Note 7 b.)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 7 c.)
Trade receivables (Note 10)
Other receivables (excluding prepayments)

60,397

28,922		

GROUP
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

-1,292
22,111
6,402

40,194
1,302
12,815
6,989

29,805

61,300

1,292

1,302

-22,111
6,402

40,194
12,815
6,989

29,805

61,300

The above has been classified as follows in the statement of financial position:
			
Non-current assets
1,302
1,292
Available-for-sale financial assets
			
Current assets
40,194
-Held to maturity assets
12,815
22,111
Trade receivables (Note 10)
6,086
5,519
Other receivables (excluding prepayments)
60,397
a.

28,922		

Accounting policy
(i) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
• loans and receivables (Note 10),
• held-to-maturity assets (Note 7 b.), and
• available-for-sale financial assets (Note 7 c.).
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its
investments at initial recognition and, re-evaluates this designation at the end of each reporting period.
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7

Financial assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) (continued)
a.

Accounting policy (continued)
(ii) Reclassification
The Group may choose to reclassify a non-derivative trading financial asset out of the held for trading category if the financial asset
is no longer held for the purpose of selling it in the near term. Financial assets other than loans and receivables are permitted to be
reclassified out of the held for trading category only in rare circumstances arising from a single event that is unusual and highly unlikely
to recur in the near term. In addition, the Group may choose to reclassify financial assets that would meet the definition of loans and
receivables out of the held for trading or available-for-sale categories if the Group has the intention and ability to hold these financial
assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the date of reclassification.
Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new cost or amortised cost as applicable,
and no reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded before reclassification date are subsequently made. Effective interest rates for
financial assets reclassified to loans and receivables and held-to-maturity categories are determined at the reclassification date. Further
increases in estimates of cash flows adjust effective interest rates prospectively.
(iii) Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss as gains and losses from investment securities.
(iv) Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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7

Financial assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) (continued)
a.

Accounting policy (continued)
(iv) Measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value are
recognised as follows:
• For available-for-sale financial assets that are monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency – translation differences related
to changes in the amortised cost of the security are recognised in profit or loss and other changes in the carrying amount are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
• For other monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale in - other comprehensive income.
(v) Impairment
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that
loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of the security below its cost is considered an indicator that the assets are impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost:
For loans and receivables, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss.
If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously
recognised impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment testing of trade receivables is described in Note 10.
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Financial assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) (continued)
a.

Accounting policy (continued)
(v) Impairment (continued)

Assets classified as available-for-sale:
If there is objective evidence of impairment for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit
or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment losses on equity instruments that were recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss in a subsequent
period.
If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases in a subsequent period and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss.
(vi) Income recognition

Interest income:
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount
to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loans is recognised using the original effective
interest rate.

Dividends:
Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established. This applies even if they are paid out of preacquisition profits. However, the investment may need to be tested for impairment as a consequence.
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Financial assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) (continued)
b.

Held to maturity assets

PARENT
2015
2016		
$’000
$’000		
			
Non-current assets
--Held t0 maturity assets
			
Current assets
40,194
-Held to maturity assets
40,194

--		

GROUP
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

--

--

--

40,194

--

40,194

Held to maturity investments consisted of Certificates of Investment in Trinidad and Tobago Government Bonds (Note 16).
c.

Available-for-sale financial assets
PARENT
2015
$’000
955
372
(25)
1,302

GROUP

2016		
$’000		

2016
$’000

1,302
-(10)

At beginning of year
Purchase
Change in value transferred to equity

1,302
-(10)

1,292

At end of year

1,292

2015
$’000
955
372
(25)
1,302

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise solely of securities listed on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange and are denominated in
Trinidad and Tobago dollars. The valuation method used is categorised as Level 1 as it utilises quoted prices in active markets. The different
levels of fair value measurements have been defined in Note 24 c.
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Financial assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) (continued)
d. Investment income
PARENT
2015
$’000

8

GROUP

2016		
$’000		

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

4,703
615

5,081
913

5,081
913

4,703
615

5,318

5,994		

5,994

5,318

Interest income – tax exempt
Other income

Taxation
a.

Taxation charge
PARENT
2015
$’000
6,348
(321)
-(2,380)
3,647

82

GROUP

2016		
$’000		
4,497
(439)
-5,989

Corporation tax
Prior year over accrual for tax
Business levy - current year
Deferred income tax (Note 8 c.)

10,047		
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2016
$’000
4,497
(439)
392
5,989
10,439

2015
$’000
6,348
(321)
164
(2,380)
3,811

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
8

Taxation (continued)
a.

Taxation charge (continued)
The tax charge differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax rate of 25% (2015 - 25%) as follows:

PARENT
2015
2016		
$’000
$’000		
		
86,650
274,479
Profit before taxation
21,663
(18,994)
660
(321)
639
-3,647
b.

68,620
(66,777)
791
(439)
7,852
--

Tax calculated at applicable tax rate
Allowances/income not subject to tax
Expenses not deductible for tax
Prior year over accrual for tax
Change in tax rate and other movements
Business levy

10,047		

GROUP
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

274,858

87,228

68,715
(66,920)
839
(439)
7,852
392

21,807
(18,994)
660
(321)
495
164

10,439

3,811

Accounting policy
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax. Tax is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. The current income tax is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantially enacted at the statement of financial position date.
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current
liabilities and when the deferred income tax asset and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority.
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Taxation (continued)
c.

Deferred taxation
PARENT
2015
$’000
64,128

60,424

-2,054
			
			
(1,273)
2,453
			
			
(51)
605
			
-13,491
(2,380)
5,989
60,424

84

GROUP

2016		
$’000		

85,016

At beginning of year
Change in tax rate and other movements
Tax on remeasurement of defined benefit
obligation recognised in other
comprehensive income (Note 18 a.)
Tax on remeasurement of casual employee
retirement benefit recognised in
other comprehensive income (Note 18 b.)
Tax on gains on revaluation of buildings
and own site improvements (Note 5)
Charge for the year (Note 8 a.)
At end of year
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2016
$’000

2015
$’000

60,424

64,128

2,054

--

2,453

(1,273)

605

(51)

13,491
5,989

-(2,380)

85,016

60,424

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
8

Taxation (continued)
c.

Deferred taxation (continued)
Deferred income taxes are calculated in full, on temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax rate of 30% (2015:
25%). The deferred income tax (asset)/liability in the statement of financial position and the deferred income tax charge/(credit) in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are attributable to the following:

Parent/Group			Charge/
		 Charge
(credit)
		to
to
2015
OCI
SOCI
2016
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Year ended 31 December 2016
Deferred income tax liabilities
Accelerated tax depreciation
65,708
-8,898
74,606
Revaluation of buildings and own site improvements
9,916
16,748
-26,664
						
75,624
16,748
8,898
101,270
Deferred income tax assets
Casual employee retirement benefit
Retirement benefit obligation

Net deferred income tax liabilities

(5,403)
(9,797)

589
1,266

(1,936)
(973)

(6,750)
(9,504)

(15,200)

1,855

(2,909)

(16,254)

5,989

85,016

60,424

18,603
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8

Taxation (continued)
c.

Deferred taxation (continued)
Parent/Group			Charge/
		 Charge
(credit)
		to
to
2014
OCI
SOCI
$’000
$’000
$’000
Year ended 31 December 2015
Deferred income tax liabilities
Accelerated tax depreciation
66,517
-(809)
Revaluation of buildings and own site improvements
10,756
-(840)
77,273
Deferred income tax assets
Casual employee retirement benefit
Retirement benefit obligation

Net deferred income tax liabilities
9

--

(1,649)

2015
$’000
65,708
9,916
75,624

(4,691)
(8,454)

(51)
(1,273)

(661)
(70)

(5,403)
(9,797)

(13,145)

(1,324)

(731)

(15,200)

64,128

(1,324)

(2,380)

60,424

Inventory
The inventory balance comprises consumable maintenance spares and is shown net of provision for obsolete spares of $1,669,000 (2015:
$1,669,000).
a.

Accounting policy
Consumable spares are stated at cost, allowance having been made for slow moving and obsolete items. Cost is determined using the firstin, first-out (FIFO) method.
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10

Trade and other receivables
2015
$’000

a.

PARENT
2016		
$’000		

GROUP
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

14,214
(1,399)

23,510
(1,399)

Trade receivables
Less: provision for impairment

23,510
(1,399)

14,214
(1,399)

12,815
9,329
6,600

22,111
7,126
4,431

Trade receivables – net
Other receivables and prepayments
Value added tax

22,111
8,009
4,431

12,815
10,232
6,600

28,744

33,668		

34,551

29,647

Accounting policy
Loans and receivables are non-deriviative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for rental fees or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection is
expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less provision for impairment. A
provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is established where there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able
to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. Trade receivables that are less than 3 months past due are not
considered impaired. Payments on invoices are due 30 days after issue. The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have
been included in ‘administrative expenses’ in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Significant financial difficulties
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are
considered indicators that the trade receivables are impaired. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within distribution
costs. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against finance costs in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

b.

Fair value of trade receivables
Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to be the same as their fair value.
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10

Trade and other receivables
c.

Impairment and risk exposure
Trade receivables of $17,331,000 (2015: $10,092,000) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of customers for whom
there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of trade receivables in arrears is as follows:

Up to 1 month
1 to 2 months
Over 2 months

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

2,472
1,026
13,833

1,908
451
7,733

17,331

10,092

As at 31 December 2016, trade receivables of $1,399,000 (2015: $1,399,000) were impaired and fully provided for. The individually impaired
receivables mainly relate to customers, which are in unexpectedly difficult economic situations or have disputed invoiced amounts. The
ageing of these receivables is as follows:
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

1,399

1,399

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

At 1 January
New provision

1,399
--

1,399
--

At 31 December

1,399

1,399

Over 12 months
Movements on the Group’s provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group does
not hold any collateral as security.
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31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
11

Cash and cash equivalents

PARENT
2015
2016		
$’000
$’000		
			
11,110
-Restricted cash
18,434
16,340
Current bank and cash balances
37,035
128,213
Short-term bank deposits
66,579
a.

144,553

Cash at bank and on hand

GROUP
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

-16,532
128,213

11,110
19,256
37,035

144,745

67,401

Accounting policy
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, short-term bank deposits, and bank overdrafts. Short-term bank deposits are presented as cash and cash equivalents
if they have a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition and are repayable within 24 hours notice with no loss of interest.
Bank overdrafts are shown in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

b.

Restricted cash
Restricted cash represented funds from matured certificates of investment in Trinidad and Tobago Investment Bonds (Note 7 b.) which was
used solely to repay the floating rate bonds at the redemption date (Note 16). This restriction is internally enforced to ensure the funds are
available upon the loan redemption date.

c.

Financial risk management
The effective interest rates on cash and short-term deposits were between 0.8% and 1.32% (2015: 0.8% and 1.32%) per annum. Short-term
deposits have original maturities of three months or less.
The Corporation has unsecured overdraft facilities of $30,000,000. Interest is charged at the average rate of 8.25% per annum (2015: 8.25%
per annum).
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Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
d. Cash generated from operating activities
PARENT
2015
$’000

12

GROUP

2016		
$’000		

86,650
(71,275)
33,081
263
(2,039)
(5,550)
282
2,648
535
(331)
15,039

274,479
(261,610)
32,547
(9)
(1,680)
(4,924)
668
2,901
567
(121)
120

59,303

42,938

Profit before taxation
Unrealised fair value gains on investment properties
Depreciation
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Increase in inventory
Increase in trade and other receivables
Net movement in retirement benefit obligation
Net movement in casual employee retirement benefit
Interest (net)
Decrease in deferred lease rental income
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Cash generated from operating activities

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

274,858
(261,610)
32,547
(9)
(1,680)
(4,904)
668
2,901
567
(121)
(691)

87,228
(71,275)
33,081
263
(2,039)
(5,762)
282
2,648
537
(331)
14,448

42,526

59,080

Stated capital
PARENT
2015
$’000

GROUP

2016		
$’000		

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

139,968

139,968

			Authorised:
			
An unlimited number of ordinary shares of no par value
			
An unlimited number of preference shares of no par value
			
139,968
139,968
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Issued and fully paid:
39,625,684 ordinary shares of no par value
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Stated capital
a.

Accounting policy
Share capital
Ordinary shares have no par value and entitle the holder to participate in dividends, and to share in the proceeds of winding up the parent
company in proportion to the number of the shares held. On show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person
or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll share is entitled to one vote.
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by the Group’s directors.
b.

Dividends declared and payable
On 18 March 2016, the Board of Directors approved a final dividend of 10¢ per share, amounting to $3,963,000 in respect of the year ended
31 December 2015. This is reflected in these financial statements.
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Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the parent company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

		

PARENT
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

264,432

83,003

667¢
7¢

210¢
30¢

Basic earnings per share
Profit for the year
Weighted average number of shares
(excluding treasury shares) 39,619,607 (2015 - 39,619,607)
Basic earnings per share
– Including fair value gains
– Excluding fair value gains
		

GROUP
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

264,419

83,417

667¢
7¢

211¢
31¢

Basic earnings per share
Profit for the year
Weighted average number of shares
(excluding treasury shares) 39,619,607 (2015 - 39,619,607)
Basic earnings per share
– Including fair value gains
– Excluding fair value gains
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Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) – parent/group
					
No. of
2016
2015
shares
$’000
$’000
Fair value of shares held – unallocated
Fair value of shares held – allocated

6
224

34
829

34
829

230

863

863

Cost of unallocated ESOP shares		
Charge to earnings for shares allocated to employees		

32
--

32
--

a.

Accounting policy
The parent company operates an Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) to give effect to a contractual obligation to pay profit sharing
bonuses to employees via shares of the parent company based on a set formula. Employees may acquire additional company shares to be
held in trust by the Trustees but the costs of such purchases are for the employee’s account. All permanent employees of the parent company
and its subsidiary (Note 1) are eligible to participate in the Plan that is directed by a Management Committee comprising management of
the company and representatives of the general membership. Independent Trustees are engaged to hold in trust all shares in the Plan as
well as to carry out the necessary administrative functions. Shares acquired by the ESOP are funded by parent company contributions and
cash advances by the parent company to the ESOP. The cost of the shares so acquired and which remain unallocated to employees have
been recognised in Shareholders’ Equity under ‘Unallocated ESOP Shares’. Any further dealings in the shares will be credited against the
same account at fair value. The fair value of shares was derived from the closing market price prevailing on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock
Exchange at the year-end.

15

Revaluation reserves
a. Nature and purpose of revaluation reserves
The revaluation reserves include the following amounts:

Revaluation surplus – property, plant and equipment:
The property, plant and equipment revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current
assets. In the event of a sale of an asset, any balance in the reserve in relation to the asset is transferred to retained earnings (Note 5).
Available-for-sale financial assets:
Changes in the fair value and exchange differences arising on translation of investments that are classified as available-for-sale financial
assets (eg equities), are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity. Amounts are
reclassified to profit or loss when the associated assets are sold or impaired (Note 7 c.).
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Revaluation reserves (continued)
PARENT
2015
$’000

GROUP

2016		
$’000		

124,107
121,561
(25)
(10)
			
-127,961
(2,521)
2,789
121,561
a.

252,301

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

At beginning of year
Fair value loss of available-for-sale financial assets (Note 7 c.)
Revaluation of land, buildings and
own site improvements (net of tax) (Note 5)
Transfer/adjustment to retained earnings

121,561
(10)

124,107
(25)

At end of year

252,301

127,961
2,789

PARENT

GROUP

2016		
$’000		

123,718
121,197
			
-127,961
(2,521)
2,789
121,197

251,947

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

At beginning of year
Revaluation of land, buildings and
own site improvements (net of tax) (Note 5)
Transfer/adjustment to retained earnings

121,197

123,718

At end of year

251,947

127,961
2,789

-(2,521)
121,197

Available-for-sale financial assets
PARENT
2015
$’000

94

121,561

Property, plant and equipment
2015
$’000

b.

-(2,521)

GROUP

2016		
$’000		

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

389
(25)

364
(10)

At beginning of year
Fair value loss of available-for-sale financial assets (Note 7 c.)

364
(10)

389
(25)

364

354

At end of year

354

364
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Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables and accruals)
2015
$’000

PARENT
2016		
$’000		

GROUP
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

-176,706

55,195
72,909

176,706

128,104

Non-current liabilities
Long and medium-term borrowings

161,945

59,459

			
Current liabilities
55,195
-Floating rate bonds 2012 – 2016
13,450
14,761
Long and medium-term borrowings

-14,761

55,195
13,450

176,706

128,104

55,195
72,909
128,104

-176,706

Floating rate bonds 2012 – 2016 (b)(i)
First Citizens Bank Limited (b)(ii)

176,706		

		 The above has been classified as follows in the statement of financial position:
		
59,459
161,945

128,104
a.

176,706		

Accounting policy
Recognition and measurement
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost;
any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current
liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

Borrowing costs
The Group capitalises general and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use.
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Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables and accruals) (continued)
b.

Loan agreements
(i) Floating rate bonds 2012 – 2016
The parent company raised via an issue of bonds the sum of $55,195,094 on 30 May 1994 through Citibank (Trinidad and Tobago)
Limited, from which $49,776,497 was used to repay bonds managed by Clico Investment Bank Limited and RBTT Merchant Bank Limited.
The balance of $5,418,597 was invested by the trustee in Certificates of Investment in Trinidad and Tobago Government Bonds yielding
interest at 11% per annum (Note 7 b.). This provided for repayment of the loan at the redemption date. The bonds were redeemable at
par on 30 November 2016 subject to a conditional prepayment option on or after 30 November 2012. This option was not exercised as
at 31 December 2016.
Citibank (Trinidad and Tobago) Limited retired as trustees and a new trust deed was executed between RBC Trust (Trinidad and
Tobago) Limited and Point Lisas Industrial Port Development Corporation Limited. Consequently, the charge by way of mortgages over
certain freehold lands of the parent company, leases granted by the parent company in respect thereof and the rents arising therefrom,
was executed in favour of RBC Trust (Trinidad and Tobago) Limited to be exercised in event of default of payment.
Interest was payable semi-annually at a floating rate set at 1% per annum below the average prime rate of licensed commercial banks.
These bonds fully matured on 30 November 2016.
(ii) First Citizens Bank Limited
On 30 June 2015, the Corporation established four (4) Term Loan facilities with First Citizens Bank Limited as follows:
Facility (i) is for TT$5,000,000 to provide financing assistance for the purchase of vehicles. As at 31 December 2015, TT$2,237,510
was drawn down with no further drawdowns as the facility expired on 31 January 2016. The financing arrangement allows for a full
drawdown of the loan to be repayable via blended monthly amortised payments of principal and interest of $32,775 using an amortised
period of 7 years with a bullet payment at the end of year 5 for $917,579. The interest rate is Prime less 2.25% per annum subject to a
floor rate of 6% per annum. The current effective interest rate per annum is 7%. The schedule of repayment on the drawn balance is
reflected in Note 16 e.
Facility (ii) is for US$12,390,428 of which US$10,371,945 was drawn down to settle existing loans. The financing arrangement allows for
a full drawdown of the loan to be repayable over 9 years by 17 semi-annual principal and interest instalments of US$345,731.52 and a
final bullet payment of US$3,668,481.89. The interest rate is LIBOR plus 2.6743% per annum, to be reset semi-annually subject to a floor
rate of 3% per annum. The current effective interest rate per annum is 3.99697%. The schedule of repayment on the drawn balance is
reflected in Note 16 e.
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Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables and accruals) (continued)
b.

Loan agreements (continued)
(ii) First Citizens Bank Limited (continued)
Facility (iii) is for TT$117,743,430 which was fully drawn as at 31 December 2016 for infrastructural work to the Port. The financing
arrangement allows for a full drawdown of the loan to be repayable over 10 years with a one year moratorium on principal. The
repayment terms consist of semi-annual principal payments of TT$3,924,781 and a final bullet payment of TT$51,022,153. The interest
rate is Prime less 4.5% per annum subject to a floor rate of 3% per annum. The current effective interest rate per annum is 4.75%. The
schedule of repayment on the drawn balance is reflected in Note 16 e.
Facility (iv) is for TT$15,000,000 to be drawn in either Trinidad and Tobago Dollars or equivalent United States Dollars. This facility is
to assist with working capital requirements. Interest payments to be serviced monthly; principal to be repaid within ninety (90) days
of each drawdown. The interest rate for amounts drawn in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars is Prime less 1.0% per annum subject to a floor
rate of 6% per annum. Amounts drawn in United States Dollars accrues interest at LIBOR plus 4.0% per annum subject to a floor rate of
4% per annum. There was no drawdown of this facility at year end.
Security on Facilities (i) and (iv) is a Debenture Charge stamped to cover the aggregate amount of $20,000,000 over the fixed and
floating assets of the Corporation.
Security on Facilities (ii) and (iii) is a Debenture Charge over the fixed and floating assets of the Corporation and a collateral chattel
mortgage over the equipment financed.

c.

Fair value
The fair values are not materially different to their carrying amounts since the interest payable on these borrowings are at floating rates (i.e.
current market rates).
The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

US dollar
TT dollar

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

65,139
111,567

61,281
66,823

176,706

128,104

POINT LISAS INDUSTRIAL PORT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT

97

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
16

Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables and accruals) (continued)
d. Sensitivity analysis - variable rate instruments
Increase/decrease
in US LIBOR
%
2016

+20
-15

27
(21)

2015

+20
-15

15
(12)

Increase/decrease
in Prime
%

e.

98

75,296

(Decrease)/increase
effect on profit
$’000

2016

+20
-15

40
(30)

2015

+20
-15

74
56

Contractual cash flows of floating rate borrowings
				More
Group		
1-2
2-5
than
< 1 year
years
years
5 years
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
31 December 2016
Borrowings
21,011
20,820
58,719
93,075
31 December 2015
Borrowings

(Decrease)/increase
effect on profit
$’000

9,338
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38,353

Contractual
cash flows
$’000

Carrying
amount
$’000

193,625

176,706

145,354
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Staff costs
2015
$’000

a.

PARENT
2016		
$’000		

155,666
13,168
3,116

145,080
14,315
3,418

171,950

162,813		

GROUP

Wages, salaries and benefits
Retirement benefit obligation expense (Note 18 a.)
Casual employee retirement benefit expense (Note 18 b.)

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

144,464
14,315
3,418

155,005
13,168
3,116

162,197

171,289

Accounting policy
Termination benefits
Benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to terminating
employment of current employees according to a formal plan without the possibility of withdrawal. In the case of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits
falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present value.

Bonus plans
The Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12 months.

Employee share ownership plan
The Group accounts for profit sharing entitlements which are settled in the shares of the parent company through an Employee Share
Ownership Plan (ESOP) as an expense determined at market value. The cost of the unallocated shares of the parent company is recognised
as a separate component within equity.

Post-retirement benefits
Pension obligations (Note 18 a. (i))
Casual employee retirement benefit (Note 18 b. (i))
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Long term employee benefits
a.

Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan for its eligible employees regulated by the Insurance Act Chapter 84:01 of Trinidad and
Tobago. The plan is a final salary pension plan which provides benefits to members in the form of a guaranteed level of pension payable
for life. The level of benefits provided depends on members length of service and their salary in the final years leading up to retirement.
The plan is operated in accordance with a Trust Deed between the parent company and First Citizens Trustee Services Limited dated 19
July 1985. Fund managers appointed by the trustees of the plan administer the funds of the plan. The pension plan is generally funded by
payments from employees and the company, taking account of the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.
There were no plan amendments, curtailments and settlements during the year.
				
2016
2015
$’000
$’000
Net liability in the statement of financial position (Parent/Group)
Present value of defined benefit obligation
Fair value of assets
Net defined benefit liability

192,113
(160,433)

188,278
(149,090)

31,680

39,188

Opening defined benefit liability
Pension expense
Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income
Company contributions paid

39,188
14,315
(8,176)
(13,647)

33,815
13,168
5,091
(12,886)

Closing defined benefit liability

31,680

39,188

Reconciliation of opening and closing statement of financial position entries
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Long term employee benefits (continued)
a.

Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
(i) Accounting policy
Defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, dependent on the following
factors age, years of service and compensation.
The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of the defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined
benefit obligations less the fair value of plan assets at the financial position date, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial
gains or losses and past service costs.
The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method, and a full
valuation is done every three years. Roll forward valuations, which are less detailed than full valuations are performed annually. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates
of long-term government securities that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to
maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments
and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they
arise.
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees
remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past service costs are amortised on a straightline basis over the vesting period.
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Long term employee benefits (continued)
a.

Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

(ii) Movement in present value of defined benefit obligation
				

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Defined benefit obligation at start of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Members’ contributions
Experience adjustments
Actuarial gains from changes in financial assumptions
Benefits paid

188,278
11,834
9,602
2,841
1,860
(15,245)
(7,057)

173,534
11,330
8,529
2,725
(1,850)
-(5,990)

Defined benefit obligation at end of year

192,113

188,278

2016

2015

70%
5%
25%
15.8 yrs

72%
5%
23%
16.5 yrs

The defined benefit obligation is allocated between the plan’s members as follows:
				
Active members
Deferred members
Pensioners
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at year end
93% of the active member benefits are vested.
30% of the active member defined benefit obligation is conditional on future salary increases.
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Long term employee benefits (continued)
a.

Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
(iii) Movement in fair value of plan assets
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Plan assets at start of year
Interest income
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income
Company contributions
Members’ contributions
Benefits paid
Expense allowance

149,090
7,674
(5,209)
13,647
2,841
(7,057)
(553)

139,719
7,211
(6,941)
12,886
2,725
(5,990)
(520)

Fair Value of Plan assets at end of year

160,433

149,090

2,465

270

29,923
13,929
49,481
50,812
12,222
4,066

25,414
13,147
39,952
51,401
14,882
4,294

160,433

149,090

Actual return on plan assets
Asset allocation
Locally listed equities
Overseas equities
Government bonds
Corporate bonds
Cash and cash equivalents
Other (immediate annuity policies)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

The asset values as at 31 December 2016 were provided by the Plan’s Investment Manager (First Citizens Asset Management Limited).
Overseas equities have quoted prices in active markets. Local equities also have quoted prices but the market is illiquid. The Investment
Manager calculates the fair value of the Government bonds and corporate bonds by discounting expected future proceeds using
a constructed yield curve. The value of the Plan’s annuity policies with CLICO was estimated using the same assumptions used to
calculate the defined benefit obligation. The value of these policies is not quoted and is reliant on CLICO’s financial strength.
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Long term employee benefits (continued)
a.

Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
(iii) Movement in fair value of plan assets (continued)
The majority of the plan’s Government bonds were issued by the Government of Trinidad and Tobago, which also guarantees many of
the corporate bonds held by the Plan.
The Plan’s assets are invested in accordance with a strategy agreed between the Plan’s Trustee and Management Committee. This
strategy is largely dictated by statutory constraints (at least 80% of the assets must be invested in Trinidad & Tobago and no more than
50% in equities) and the availability of suitable investments. There are no asset-liability matching strategies used by the Plan other than
the decision to purchase immediate annuity policies to secure some pensions in payment and in deferment.
(iv) Funding
The Group meets the balance of the cost of funding of the defined benefit pension plan and the Group must pay contributions at least
equal to those paid by members, which are fixed. The funding requirements are based on regular (at least every 3 years) actuarial
valuations of the plan and the assumptions used to determine the funding required may differ from those set out above. The Group
expects to pay $13.9 million to the pension plan during 2017.
(v) Expense recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Current service cost
Net interest on net defined benefit liability
Administration expense allowance

11,834
1,928
553

11,330
1,318
520

Pension expense (Note 17)

14,315

13,168

Experience (gains)/losses
Deferred income tax (Note 8 c.)

(8,176)
2,453

5,091
(1,273)

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income

(5,723)

3,818

(vi) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income
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Long term employee benefits (continued)
a.

Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
(vii) Significant accounting estimate
The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a
number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of obligations.
The parent company determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be used to
determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the obligations. In determining the
appropriate discount rate, the company considers the interest rates of long term Government securities that are denominated in the
currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability.

Summary of principal assumptions
Discount rate
Underlying salary and wage inflation
Promotional/merit increases
Average individual salary increases
Future pension increases

Per
annum

Per
annum

5.50%
4.00%
1.00%
5.00%
0.00%

5.00%
4.00%
1.00%
5.00%
0.00%

These assumptions affect the deferred tax asset calculated on the pension benefit liability. The most recent completed actuarial
valuation was as at 31 December 2016.
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Long term employee benefits (continued)
a.

Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
(viii) Significant accounting estimate (continued)
Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published mortality tables. The life expectancies underlying the value of the
defined benefit obligation as at 31 December 2016 are as follows:
2016

2015

Life expectancy at age 60 for current pensioner in years
Male
Female

21
25.1

21
25.1

Life expectancy at age 60 for current members age 40 in years
Male
Female

21.4
25.4

21.4
25.4

Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions used. The following table summarises how the defined
benefit obligation as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 would have changed as a result of a change in the assumptions used.
2016
1% pa
increase
$’000
Discount rate
Future salary increases
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
18

Long term employee benefits (continued)
a.

Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
(viii) Significant accounting estimate (continued)
2015
1% pa
increase
$’000
Discount rate
Future salary increases

(26,327)
10,981

1% pa
decrease
$’000
33,624
(9,570)

An increase of 1 year in the assumed life expectancies shown above would increase the defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2016
by $2.586 million.
											Impact on defined benefit obligation
Change in
Assumptions

Discount rate
Future salary increases
Life expectancy

Increase in
assumptions

Decrease in
assumptions

2016

2015

2016

2015

2016

2015

1%pa
1%pa
1%pa

1%pa
1%pa
1%pa

-13.4%
+6.1%
+1.3%

-14.0%
+5.8%
-1.4%

+16.9%
-5.3%
1.4%

+17.9%
-5.1%
-1.5%

These sensitivities were computed by re-calculating the defined benefit obligations using the revised assumptions. The methods and
types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared with the prior year.
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Long term employee benefits (continued)
b.

Casual employee retirement benefit
The Group implemented a retirement benefit for casual employees in 2013 in accordance with its collective agreement. The benefit is for
eligible employees who met several criteria as agreed with the bargaining body and the benefit is managed in house and financed by the
Group. Lump sums will be paid as they fall due.
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

22,500

21,615

Net liability in the statement of financial position (parent/group)
Present value of casual employee retirement benefit obligation

Reconciliation of opening and closing statement of financial position entries
Opening net retirement benefit liability
Net benefit cost
Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income
Lump sums paid
Closing casual employee retirement benefit liability

21,615
3,418
(2,016)
(517)
22,500

18,763
3,116
204
(468)
21,615

(i) Accounting policy
The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of casual employee retirement benefit is the present value of
the obligation at the financial position date, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses.
The casual employee retirement benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit
method. The present value of the casual employee retirement benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future
cash outflows using interest rates of long-term government securities that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will
be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related benefit obligation.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
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Long term employee benefits (continued)
b.

Casual employee retirement benefit (continued)
(ii) Funding
The Group pays the termination lump sums as they fall due. The Group expects to pay lump sums of $0.613 million in 2017.

(iii) Movement in present value of casual employee retirement benefit obligation
			
2016
2015
$’000
$’000
Obligation at start of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Experience adjustments
Actuarial gains from changes in financial assumptions
Benefits paid

21,615
18,763
2,293
2,189
1,125
927
(354)
204
(1,662)	–
(517)
(468)

Obligation at end of year

22,500

21,615

2016

2015

91%
7%
2%

95%
4%
1%

14.8 yrs

15.8 yrs

The casual employee retirement benefit obligation is allocated between the members as follows:

Casual employees
Former casual employees made permanent
Outstanding benefits
The weighted average duration of the retirement benefit
obligation at year end
15% of the benefits are vested.
42% of the retirement obligation is conditional on future salary increases.
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Long term employee benefits (continued)
b.

Casual employee retirement benefit (continued)
(iv) Expense recognised in the other comprehensive income
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

Current service cost
Net interest on net retirement benefit liability

2,293
1,125

2,189
927

Casual employee retirement benefit expense (Note 17)

3,418

3,116

(v) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income
Experience (gains)/losses
Deferred income tax (Note 8 c.)

(2,016)
605

204
(51)

Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income

(1,411)

153

(vi) Significant accounting estimate
The present value of the retirement benefit depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number
of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost for the benefit include the discount rate. Any changes in these
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of obligations.
The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be used to determine
the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the obligations. In determining the appropriate
discount rate, the Group considers the interest rates of long term Government securities that are denominated in the currency in which
the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related benefit liability.
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Long term employee benefits (continued)
b.

Casual employee retirement benefit (continued)
(vi) Significant accounting estimate (continued)
Other key assumptions for casual employee retirement benefit are based in part on current market conditions.

Summary of principal assumptions
Discount rate
Average individual pay increases

2016

2015

5.50%
4.00%

5.00%
4.00%

There is limited experience data on casual employees hence management has used the same assumptions as that of the pension plan.
These assumptions affect the deferred tax asset calculated on the casual employee retirement benefit liability.

Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of the casual employee retirement benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions used. The following table summarises how
the retirement benefit obligation as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 would have changed as a result of a change in the assumptions used.
2016
1% pa
increase
$’000
Discount rate
Future salary increases

1% pa
decrease
$’000

3,504
(2,757)

(2,864)
3,329
2015

1% pa
increase
$’000
Discount rate
Future salary increases

(2,929)
3,495

1% pa
decrease
$’000
3,612
(2,877)
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Long term employee benefits (continued)
b.

Casual employee retirement benefit (continued)
(vi) Significant accounting estimate (continued)
Impact on defined benefit obligation
Change in
assumptions

Discount rate
Future salary increases

Increase in
assumptions

Decrease in
assumptions

2016

2015

2016

2015

2016

2015

1%pa
1%pa

1%pa
1%pa

-12.7%
+14.8%

-13.6%
+16.2%

+15.6%
-12.3%

+16.7%
-13.3%

These sensitivities were computed by recalculating the casual employee retirement benefit obligation using the revised assumptions.
The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared with the prior year.
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Deferred lease rental income
2015
$’000

PARENT
2016		
$’000		

			
6,240
5,909
60,348
59,575
66,588
74,135
140,723
(75,239)
65,484

4,217
a.

5,909
59,575

6,240
60,348

65,484
83,135

66,588
74,135

148,619
(84,029)

140,723
(75,239)

At end of year

64,590

65,484

Summarised as follows:
30 year leases and unearned revenue
96 years and longer leases

5,788
58,802

5,909
59,575

64,590
(60,198)

65,484
(61,267)

4,392

4,217

At beginning of year:
30 year leases and unearned revenue
96 years and longer leases

148,619		
(84,029)
Income brought into account (Note 21 b.)

			
5,909
5,788
59,575
58,802
65,484
(61,267)

2015
$’000

65,484		
83,135
Amounts received during the year

64,590

64,590		
(60,198)
Less: long-term portion
4,392

GROUP
2016
$’000

Current portion

Accounting policy
Refer to Note 21 a.
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Trade and other payables
2015
$’000

a.

PARENT
2016		
$’000		
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals

GROUP
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

10,561
32,357

10,579
33,030

10,579
26,759

10,561
27,590

37,338
6,244

38,151		
5,551
Due to subsidiary

42,918
--

43,609
--

43,582

43,702		

42,918

43,609

Accounting policy
Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of service rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.
b.

Fair value of trade payables
Due to the short term nature of the current payables, their carrying amount is assumed to be the same as their fair value.
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Segment information – group
a.

Accounting policy
Segments
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the President and the management team,
which is the team responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments and is also responsible for
making strategic decisions. The Group’s executive management team, consisting of the President, the Vice Presidents of Business Services,
Port and Technical, examines the Group’s performance from an operations perspective and has identified two reportable segments of its
business.
(i) Port operations – This covers services supplied for the import, export and transhipment of containers and general cargo. The fees for
these services include handling charges, storage rents, stuffing/unstuffing and other miscellaneous services. These are all based on an
established tariff.
(ii) Estate operations – This covers operations involved in the development, maintenance and supply of onshore infrastructure which are
leased to tenants at contracted rates as charged for occupancy, wayleaves and common service charges.
These are the reportable segments of the Group as they form the basis used by the President and management team, as the chief operating
decision makers, for assessing performance and allocating resources.
These reported segments are closely integrated as the viability of one segment depends on the continued operations of the other. As such,
the operation comprises one cash generating unit, which is taxed as one unit and for which other expenses do not relate entirely to one
segment.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s
activities. Revenue represents the amounts earned for lease rents, port and warehousing services and management fees, and is shown net
of value added tax, discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

POINT LISAS INDUSTRIAL PORT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT

115

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
21

Segment information – group (continued)
a.

Accounting policy (continued)
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met as follows:
(i) Port operations
The fees for services are recognised in the period in which the services are provided.
(ii) Estate operations

Lease rental income
Revenue earned as rental income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the terms of the individual lease agreements
with tenants. Lease premiums are deferred and recognised as revenue over the term of the lease.

Investment property lease premiums
Leases between the parent company and tenants on the Industrial Estate are usually of two types, 30 year leases and 96 year and
longer leases. The premiums received on 96 year leases are accounted for on a deferral basis. They are taken into income in equal annual
amounts over the lives of the leases.

Commitment fees
Commitment fees received on all leases are taken into income upon receipt.
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Segment information – group (continued)
b.

Segment operations
Port and
related		Support
activities
Estate
activities
$’000
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

Year ended 31 December 2016
Revenue

183,765

84,029

Gross profit
Unrealised fair value gains on investment properties
Depreciation
Repairs and maintenance
Other expenses – net
Finance costs

92,365
-(27,718)
(18,370)
(51,828)
(3,754)

84,029
261,610
(1,201)
(217)
(3,552)
(2,627)

1,049
1,049
-(3,628)
(1,045)
(49,809)
(446)

Profit before taxation				

268,843
177,443
261,610
(32,547)
(19,632)
(105,189)
(6,827)
274,858

Year ended 31 December 2015
Revenue

213,009

75,239

1,340

289,588

Gross profit
Unrealised fair value gains on investment properties
Depreciation
Repairs and maintenance
Other expenses – net
Finance costs

118,266
-(27,585)
(23,143)
(51,531)
(3,412)

75,239
71,275
(1,822)
(1,803)
(3,288)
(2,451)

1,340
-(3,674)
(2,087)
(57,411)
(685)

194,845
71,275
(33,081)
(27,033)
(112,230)
(6,548)

Profit before taxation				
87,228
		
The revenue reported to the chief operating decision makers is measured in a manner consistent with that in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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Segment information – group (continued)
c.

Segment assets
Port and
related		Support
activities
Estate
activities
$’000
$’000
$’000
Total segment assets
31 December 2016
31 December 2015

570,713
460,829

2,034,211
1,721,685

36,515
39,952

Total
$’000
2,641,439
2,222,466

Total assets are measured in a manner consistent with that of the financial statements. These assets are allocated based on the operations
of the segment.
Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:
31 December
2016
2015
$’000
$’000
Total segment assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Held to maturity investments
Deferred income tax
Other assets

2,641,439
144,745
-16,254
5,533

2,222,466
67,401
40,194
15,200
4,087

Total assets as per statement of financial position

2,807,971

2,349,348

Port and
related		Support
activities
Estate
activities
$’000
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

Total segment assets include additions to property, plant and equipment as follows:

31 December 2016
31 December 2015
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9,059

186
3,603

993
16,489

44,200
29,151
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Segment information – group (continued)
d. Segment liabilities
Total liabilities are centrally managed and are not allocated by segments.

22

Expenses by nature
2015
$’000

PARENT
2016		
$’000		

GROUP
2016
$’000

2015
$’000

171,950
33,081
14,578
12,455
11,275
8,628
6,505
5,303
3,061
1,900
1,688
1,613
940
8

162,813
32,547
13,801
5,831
11,984
6,901
7,475
3,783
3,231
1,802
2,217
1,929
829
--

Staff costs (Note 17)
162,197
Depreciation
32,547
Repairs and maintenance spares utilised
13,801
Repairs and maintenance on property, plant and equipment
5,831
Accommodation
11,984
Office expenses
7,126
Other
7,475
Insurance
3,783
Vehicle and transport
3,231
Communication
1,812
Legal and professional fees
2,217
Marketing
1,929
Directors’ remuneration
829
Bad debts	–	

171,289
33,081
14,578
12,455		
11,275
8,699
6,505
5,303
3,061
1,910
1,688
1,613
940
8

272,985

255,143

Total direct cost, administrative expenses and other operating expenses

272,405

254,762
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24

Contingent liabilities
		
		

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

a.

Customs bonds

2,250

2,316

b.

The Corporation is a party to various legal actions. In the opinion of the directors, after taking appropriate legal advice, the outcome of such
actions will not result in any significant additional liabilities and therefore no provision has been made in these financial statements.

Summary of significant accounting policies
This Note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these parent and consolidated financial statements
to the extent they have not already been disclosed in the other Notes above. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the Group consisting of Point Lisas Industrial Port Development Corporation
Limited and its subsidiary, Point Lisas Terminals Limited.
a.

Basis of preparation
(i) Compliance with IFRS
These parent and consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to Companies reporting under IFRS. The
financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
(ii) Historical cost convention
The parent and consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following:
• the revaluation of land, buildings and own site improvements – measured at fair value,
• investment properties – measured at fair value,
• available-for-sale financial assets – measured at fair value, and
• defined benefit pension plans – plan assets measured at fair value.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
a.

Basis of preparation (continued)
(iii) New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group
The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual reporting period commencing
1 January 2016:
Financial reporting standard and effective date

Nature of change

IFRS 1
IAS 27
Effective for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016

Equity method in separate financial statements
Amends IAS 27 to restore the option to use the equity method
to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
in an entity’s separate financial statements.
Amends IFRS 1 to permit use of the business combinations exemption
for investments in subsidiaries accounted for using the equity method
in the separate financial statements of the first-time adopter.

IFRS 10
Effective for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016

Applying the consolidation exception
IFRS 10 is amended to clarify the application of the consolidation
exception for investment entities and their subsidiaries.

IFRS 10

Sale or contribution between an investor and its associate or joint
venture

IAS 28
Effective for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016

The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is
recognised when the transaction involves a business combination and
a partial gain is recognised when the transaction involves assets that
do not constitute a business.

IAS 1
Effective for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016
(Early adopted in 2015)

Presentation of financial statements
Amended to clarify guidance on materiality and aggregation, the
presentation of subtotals, the structure of financial statements and the
disclosure of accounting policies.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
a.

Basis of preparation (continued)
(iii) New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group (continued)
Financial reporting standard and effective date

Nature of change

IAS 16
IAS 38

Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation
Amends IAS 16 and IAS 38 to clarify that the use of a revenue based
depreciation and amortisation method is not appropriate for
tangible assets and to provide a rebuttable presumption for intangible
assets.

Effective for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
Effective for years beginning on or after 1 January 2016

IFRS 7 – specific guidance for transferred financial assets to help
management determine whether the terms of a servicing arrangement
constitute ‘continuing involvement’ and, therefore, whether the asset
qualifies for derecognition.
IAS 19 – that when determining the discount rate for post-employment
benefit obligations, it is the currency that the liabilities are denominated.

The adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the current period or any prior period and is not likely to affect future
periods.
(iv) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2016 reporting
periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group is yet to assess the impact of these new standards.
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Financial reporting standard and effective date

Nature of change

IFRS 7
IFRS 9
Effective for year beginning on or after 1 January 2018

Financial instruments
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IFRS 9 includes a third measurement category for financial assets –
fair value through other comprehensive income and a single, forward–
looking expected loss impairment model. IFRS 7 was amended to
require additional disclosures on transition to IFRS 9.
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Summary of significant accounting policies
a.

Basis of preparation (continued)
(iv) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)
Financial reporting standard and effective date

Nature of change

IFRS 15
Amendment to IFRS 15 issued in September 2015 to
defer effective date of IFRS 15 by one year:
Effective for first interim periods within years on
or after 1 January 2018

Revenue from Contracts with Customers - New standard on revenue
recognition, superceding IAS 18, IAS 11, and related interpretations.
The objective of IFRS 15 is to provide a single, comprehensive revenue
recognition model for all contracts with customers to improve
comparability within industries, across industries and across capital
markets. It contains principles that an entity will apply to determine
the measurement of revenue and timing of when it is recognised. The
underlying principle is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict
the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that the
entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or
services.
Almost all entities will be affected to some extent by the significant
increase in required disclosures. But the changes extend beyond
disclosures and the effect on entities will vary depending on industry
and current accounting practices. Entities will need to consider
changes that might be necessary to information technology systems,
processes and internal controls to capture new data and address
changes in financial reporting.

Amendments to IFRS 2 - Effective for years beginning
on or after 1 January 2018

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

Amendments to IAS 7 - Effective for years beginning
on or after 1 January 2017

Disclosure Initiative - Going forward, entities will be required to
explain changes in their liabilities arising from financing activities.
Changes in financial assets must be included in this disclosure if the
cash flows were, or will be, included in cash flows from financing
activities.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
a.

Basis of preparation (continued)
(iv) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted
Financial reporting standard and effective date

Nature of change

IFRS 16 Leases - Effective for years beginning on
or after 1 January 2019.

Leases - IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost all
leases being recognised on the balance sheet, as the distinction
between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new
standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial
liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are shortterm and low-value leases.
The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.

IFRIC Interpretation 22 – Effective for years
beginning on or after 1 January 2018

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration addresses the exchange rate to use in transactions that involve advance
consideration paid or received in a foreign currency.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on the entity in the
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
b.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). These consolidated financial statements are presented in Trinidad
and Tobago dollars, which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.
(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
b.

Foreign currency translation (continued)
(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or loss, within finance costs. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis within other income or other
expenses.
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss.

c.

Fair value hierarchy
Judgements and estimates are made in determining the fair values for items measured at fair value in the financial statements. The valuation
methods used by management were classified into the following levels:
Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices)
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

d. Property, plant and equipment (Note 5 a.)
e.

Investment properties (Note 6 a.)

f.

Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the Statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

g. Financial assets (Note 7 a.)
h.

Current and deferred income tax (Note 8 b.)

i.

Inventory (Note 9 a.)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
31 DECEMBER 2016 (EXPRESSED IN TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO DOLLARS)
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
j.

Trade receivables (Note 10 a.)

k.

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 11 a.)

l.

Impairment of non- financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent cash inflows (cash generating units). Non-financial assets
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

m. Share capital (Note 12 a.)
n.

Borrowings (Note 16 a.)

o.

Trade payables (Note 20 a.)

p.

Provisions (Note 20 a.)

q. Employee benefits
- Termination benefits (Note 17 a.)
- Bonus plans (Note 17 a.)
- Employee share ownership plan (Note 17 a.)
- Pension obligations (Note 18 a. (i))
- Casual employee retirement benefit (Note 18 b. (i))
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r.

Segment reporting (Note 21 a.)

s.

Revenue recognition (Note 21 a.)
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MANAGEMENT PROXY CIRCULAR
REPUBLIC OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO
THE COMPANIES ACT, Ch. 81:01
(Section 144)
1.

Any Director’s statement submitted pursuant to Section 76(2):
No statement has been received from any Director pursuant to
Section 76(2) of the Companies Act, Ch. 81:01

Name of Company:
POINT LISAS INDUSTRIAL PORT 		
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
LIMITED

2.

4.

Company No. P70(C)

Particulars of Meeting:
Fiftieth (50th) Annual Meeting of the Shareholders of the Company
to be held on Thursday June 8th, 2017 at PLIPDECO’s Conference
Centre, PLIPDECO House, Orinoco Drive, Point Lisas Industrial
Estate, Couva, Trinidad.

3.
Solicitation:
		
It is intended to vote the Proxy hereby solicited by the Management
of the Company (unless the Shareholder directs otherwise) in
favour of all resolutions specified in the Proxy Form.

5.
Any Auditor’s statement submitted pursuant to Section 171(1):
		
No statement has been received from the Auditors of the Company
pursuant to Section 171(1) of The Companies Act, Ch. 81:01
6.

Any Shareholder’s proposal submitted pursuant to Sections
116(a) and 117(2):
		
No proposal has been received from any shareholder pursuant to
Sections 116(a) and 117(2) of the Companies Act, Ch. 81:01
Date 		
April 7th, 2017

Name and Title

Signature

Mr. Michael A. Phillip
Corporate Secretary
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PROXY FORM
REPUBLIC OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO
THE COMPANIES ACT, CH. 81:01
(Section 143 (1))
Name of Company:
POINT LISAS INDUSTRIAL PORT 			
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION LIMITED

Company No. P70(C)

Particulars of Meeting:
Fiftieth (50th) Annual Meeting of the Shareholders to be held on Thursday June 8th, 2017 at 2:00 p.m. at PLIPDECO’s Conference Centre, PLIPDECO
House, Orinoco Drive, Point Lisas Industrial Estate, Couva, Trinidad.
I/We
of
shareholder(s) of the above named Company hereby appoint the Chairman of the Meeting, or failing him
							 of
to be my/our proxy to attend and act on my/our behalf at the above Meeting, and at any adjournment or adjournments thereof, to the same extent
and with the same power as if I/we were personally present at the said Meeting or such adjournment or adjournments thereof and, without limiting
the generality of the authorisation and power hereby conferred, to vote for me/us on my/our behalf as indicated below on the Resolutions to be
proposed at the above Meeting and at any adjournment or adjournments thereof.
Dated this 				

Signature(s) of Shareholder(s)

day of				

2017

PROXY FORM

(Continued)

Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces below how you wish your
Proxy to vote on the Resolutions referred to. If no such indication is given
the Proxy will exercise his discretion as to how he votes or whether he
abstains from voting.
NO.		 ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS		
1.

2.

To receive and consider the Report
of the Directors and the Audited
Financial Statements of the Company
for the financial year ended December
31st, 2016 together with the Report of
the Auditors thereon.		

1.

A Shareholder may appoint a proxy of his/her own choice.
If such an appointment is made, delete the words “the
Chairman of the Meeting” and insert the name and address of
the person appointed proxy in the space provided.

2.

If the appointer is a corporation, this Proxy Form must be under
Common Seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly
authorised in that behalf.

3.

A Shareholder who is a body corporate may, in lieu of
appointing a proxy, authorise an individual by resolution of
its directors or governing body to represent it at this Annual
Meeting.

4.

In the case of joint holders, the signature of any one holder
will be sufficient, but the names of all the joint holders should
be stated on the Proxy Form.

5.

If this form is returned without any indication as to how
the person appointed proxy shall vote, he will exercise his
discretion as to how he votes or whether he abstains from
voting.

6.

To be valid, the Proxy Form must be completed and deposited
at the Registered Office of the Company at the address below
not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time fixed for
holding the Annual Meeting or adjourned Meeting.

AGAINST

To elect Directors and for such
purpose
pass
the
following
resolutions:
(i)

Be it resolved that the Directors
to be elected be elected en
bloc.

(ii) Be it resolved that Mr. Ian
R. H. Atherly, Mr. Haroon
Fyzool Awardy, Mr. Ibn Llama
de Leon, Mr Charles Percy, Mr.
Prakash Ramnarine and Dr. Dale
Sookoo be elected Directors
of Point Lisas Industrial Port
Development
Corporation
Limited.
		
3.

FOR

NOTES:

Be
it
resolved
that
PricewaterhouseCoopers
be
appointed Auditors of the Company
for the period ending at the conclusion
of the next Annual Meeting and that
the Directors be authorised to fix
their remuneration and expenses for
the ensuing year.

Signature(s) of Shareholder(s)

RETURN TO:
The Corporate Secretary
Point Lisas Industrial Port Development Corporation Limited
PLIPDECO House, Orinoco Drive
Point Lisas Industrial Estate
Couva
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